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ERROR ASSIGNED FOR REVIEW

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING NO DUE PROCESS
VIOLATION WHEN THE GOVERNMENT WAS INACTIVE
FOR OVER 17 YEARS BEFORE INVESTIGATING A CLAIM OF
RAPE, VIOLATING LT COL MANGAHAS’ FIFTH
AMENDMENT RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL.

STATUTORY JURISDICTION

The Air Force Court of Criminal Appeals (CCA) reviewed this case under

Article 62, Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ).  This Court has jurisdiction

under Article 67(a)(3), UCMJ.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A charge with one specification alleging rape under Article 120, UCMJ was

preferred against Lt Col Mangahas on October 28, 2015.  Charge Sheet.  He is

accused of raping DS when they were both cadets at the Coast Guard Academy in

1997.  A preliminary hearing pursuant to Article 32, UCMJ, was conducted on April

19, 2016 and the Preliminary Hearing Officer issued his report on April 27, 2016. 

App. Ex. VIII, Att. 2.  Despite the PHO’s determination that there was no probable

cause to believe that Lt Col Mangahas committed the charged offense and his

recommendation to dismiss, the convening authority referred the charge and

specification to trial by general court-martial on June 2, 2016.  Lt Col Mangahas was

arraigned, over Defense objection, on June 14, 2016.  R. 11-12, 14.



On July 10, 2016, Lt Col Mangahas filed three Motions to Dismiss the Charge

and Specification:  one based on the statute of limitations (App. Ex. VI), another

based on improper referral (App. Ex. VIII), and the last based on a violation of the

constitutional right to a speedy trial (App. Ex. X).  The military judge held an Article

39(a), UCMJ session on July 29, 2016 and heard argument on all three motions to

dismiss.  The Government stipulated to the facts in the Motions.  R. 26-29.  The

military judge dismissed the charge and specification with prejudice on August 2,

2016, finding that the Government’s inaction over 17 years prior to preferring charges

violated the speedy trial guarantee embodied in the Fifth Amendment’s due process

clause.  App. Ex. XV.1

The Government appealed the dismissal to the Air Force CCA under Article

62, UCMJ.  On April 4, 2017, the Air Force CCA vacated the military judge’s order,

concluding that there was insufficient evidence of actual prejudice resulting from the

lengthy pre-preferral delay and thus no due process violation.  United States v.

Mangahas, Misc. Dkt. No. 2016-10 (A.F. Ct. Crim. App. Apr. 4, 2017), at Appendix

A.  The CCA returned the case to the Judge Advocate General of the Air Force, who

returned it to the convening authority.  The convening authority, in turn, directed the

military judge to proceed to trial.  Appendix C.

1 The military judge’s ruling is at Appendix B for the Court’s convenience.
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Lt Col Mangahas filed his Petition for Grant of Review with this Court on June

2, 2017.  This Court granted leave to file the Supplement to the Petition separately,

ultimately enlarging time up to and including July 7, 2017.

On May 25, 2017, the military judge issued a scheduling order docketing an

Article 39(a), UCMJ hearing to litigate motions on August 10-11, 2017, and set a new

trial date of September 11, 2017, deferring ruling on a Defense Motion to Continue. 

Lt Col Mangahas, therefore, has filed a Motion to Stay Court-Martial Proceedings

with this Court contemporaneously with his Supplement to the Petition.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 5, 2014 the complaining witness, DS, gave a videotaped statement

to the Coast Guard Investigative Service alleging that Lt Col Mangahas raped her

when they were both cadets at the Coast Guard Academy in 1997.  App. Ex. I, Att.

1.2  She also claimed that in 1997, she reported this rape verbally and in writing to

Academy officials, including the Staff Judge Advocate (SJA), the Deputy SJA, PM

– who was an Academy counselor, and other Academy officials via her witness

testimony at an Executive Board hearing in an unrelated rape allegation involving one

of her friends.  She alleged that the Academy officials – specifically, the SJA, Deputy

2 For the Court’s convenience, Appendix D contains all of the statements DS
purportedly authored (three unsigned, undated statements and one given to CGIS in
1998); it also includes the CGIS notes pertaining to their interview of DS.  A
transcript of the video was admitted at the preliminary hearing as PHO Ex. 33.

3



SJA, and counselor – discouraged her from participating in counseling beyond the

initial session after reporting the rape and from going forward with a case.  Id.; App.

Ex. X, Att. 3.  Finally, she made a written, sworn statement to the CGIS and local law

enforcement on January 20, 1998, alleging that she was raped the year prior.  App.

Ex. X, Att.8.  Neither CGIS nor the local police conducted any investigation

whatsoever into the rape allegation between 1998 and DS’s statement to CGIS in

2014.  R. 73, 77-78.

In June 2015, CGIS found several boxes in a filing cabinet in the USCGA law

library; the CGIS report states the following:

On 06/03/2015, during the review of multiple boxes labeled “CDR
Sulmasy”, a document labeled “Statement by 1/c [DS], [xxx-xx-xxxx],
concerning actions of Edzel Mangahas” was discovered.  This document
was maintained in the Fouled Anchor case file at CGIS Chesapeake
Region.

App. Ex. X, Att. 7, pg. 2.

Despite the fact that the language above describes a single document, the

Government provided to the Defense three different versions of a statement DS

purportedly authored.  R. 71-72; see App. Ex. X, Att. 4, 5, and 6.  The Government,

however, is unable to disclose which version was the one found in the library, and

cannot identify the source of the other two versions.3  R. 71-72.

3 The lower court’s opinion erroneously states, “The box contained three type-
written, unsigned, and undated statements describing the alleged sexual assault which

4



All three versions of the statement allege that DS reported the rape to her

company commander, LCDR Riordan, in addition to the SJA, Deputy SJA, and PM. 

Further, two of the statements contain the following language: “I said [to PM] that I

did not want to come forward with an investigation” (emphasis added).  App. Ex. X,

Att. 4, 6.

After CGIS interviewed DS in October 2014, it interviewed several individuals

DS mentioned in her videotaped statement.  None of these potential witnesses were

able to corroborate DS’s claims about being raped or reporting the rape to Academy

officials in 1997.  For example, DS alleged that the morning after the rape, she

reported to her friend and fellow cadet, Shannon Pitts,4 that Lt Col Mangahas raped

her the night before.  App. Ex. I, Att. 1; App. Ex. X, Att. 4, 5, and 6.  The CGIS

report, however, indicates the following results from the interview with now-

Commander Pitts:

In reference to any knowledge of a sexual assault involving [DS], Pitts
said she did not have any knowledge of a sexual assault or sexual assault
investigation involving [DS]. . . .(PK [person with knowledge]) Pitts
said she was friends with [DS] as they had similar social habits, but
explained that she was not close friends with her and did not remember
any conversation with [DS] involving a·sexual assault or (S [suspect])
Mangahas.  (PK) Pitts described her friendship with [DS]·as being “a
friend of a friend.”  (PK) Pitts said she occasionally attended church

on their face purport to be statements of DS.”  Mangahas, slip op. at 8 n.10.

4 Pitts is the witness’s married name.
5



during the time period she was at the USCG Academy, but did not
remember attending church with [DS].  (W [witness]) Pitts explained
that she does not remember many details of social interactions from that
time period due to the extensive amount of time which has since passed.

Attachment 1 (emphasis added).5

Significantly, CGIS interviewed PM – the Academy counselor – in December

2014 for approximately two hours in connection with a separate investigation called

“Fouled Anchor.”  Despite the fact that they did discuss some specific cases of sexual

assault at the USCGA, CGIS failed to ask her a single question about the relevant

allegations, whether she had provided counseling to DS, or what transpired during

counseling sessions with DS.  Attachment 2.

Before the preliminary hearing, the Defense repeatedly requested discovery of

witness contact information for everyone the Government interviewed.  Eventually,

the Government provided a partial list, which did not include PM.  App. Ex. X.  The

Defense exercised independent efforts to locate and contact PM to prepare for the

preliminary hearing, but discovered that, unfortunately, PM had passed away in

March 2016, just weeks before the preliminary hearing.  Id.  She was, therefore,

unavailable for anyone to ask her to confirm or deny that she discouraged DS from

5 A Motion to Supplement the Record is filed contemporaneously with this
Supplement.
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proceeding with an investigation of the alleged rape or from further counseling, or

both, as DS asserted.

The SJA to whom DS said she made the report did testify by telephone at the

preliminary hearing.6  App. Ex. XIII.  He denied that DS came to him or his deputy

to report a rape.  In fact, he testified that he heard DS claimed to be a rape victim only

after she testified in connection with the unrelated rape allegation against another

cadet, and he called DS to come to his office to question her about this claim that she

had been raped.  He further testified that, contrary to DS’s videotaped statement, he

never discouraged her from proceeding with the case because, in fact, he wanted to

prosecute a cadet for sexual assault – but DS did not want to go forward with a

prosecution at that time.  The SJA made sure that DS had his contact information and

told her to call him if she changed her mind.  Id.

In addition to the testimony above, the SJA addressed whether PM would

discourage a cadet from proceeding with a rape allegation.  The SJA testified he knew

PM well, and adamantly insisted that PM would never discourage a victim from

proceeding with a rape claim because she was a strong supporter of cadets who were

assault victims.  Id.

6 The military judge listened to the audio of the preliminary hearing.  R. 110-11;
App. Ex. XV.
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Finally, the SJA also testified that his memory had faded due to the passage of

time.  Id.  Trial counsel argued at the motions hearing that the Government intended

to impeach the SJA’s testimony at trial.  See R. 82 (“You know, given [the SJA’s]

credibility right now, I don’t know that I can honestly say he didn't say that or she

[PM] didn't say that.”).

There was no investigation whatsoever in connection with DS’s rape allegation

against Lt Col Mangahas from 1997 until January 2014, when DS reported to the

Department of Veterans Affairs that she was a rape victim after she failed to promote. 

App. Ex. XV.

No one notified Lt Col Mangahas that DS had accused him of rape until

October 2014, after DS made her videotaped statement to CGIS.  Lt Col Mangahas

entered a plea of not guilty and denies that he ever had any sexual contact with DS. 

App. Ex. XIII.  He therefore contests the accuracy of DS’s claims regarding the

alleged rape and other pertinent events she described in her 2014 videotaped

statement to CGIS, but acknowledges for purposes of this appeal only that in 1997

she made an accusation that he raped her.  App. Ex. X.

8



REASON TO GRANT REVIEW

THE LOWER COURT’S ERRONEOUS RESOLUTION OF A
QUESTION OF LAW – FINDING NO PREJUDICE AND THUS
NO DUE PROCESS VIOLATION FROM PRE-PREFERRAL
DELAY OF ALMOST 20 YEARS – WAS A DECISION IN
CONFLICT WITH APPLICABLE DECISIONS OF THIS COURT
AND THE SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

The standard of review in a Government appeal reflects the foundational

principle that such an appeal is to be “unusual, exceptional, [and] not favored.” 

Carroll v. United States, 354 U.S. 394, 400 (1957).  “In an Article 62, UCMJ, 10

U.S.C. § 862, petition, this Court . . . reviews the evidence in the light most favorable

to the prevailing party at trial.”  United States v. Wicks, 73 M.J. 93, 98 (C.A.A.F.

2014) (citing United States v. Baker, 70 M.J. 283, 287-88 (C.A.A.F. 2011)),

reconsideration denied, 73 M.J. 264 (C.A.A.F. 2014).  Further, in ruling on Article

62 appeals, the appellate courts “may act only with respect to matters of law.”  Baker,

70 M.J. at 287-88 (quoting Article 62(b), UCMJ).

“When a court is limited to reviewing matters of law, the question is not

whether a reviewing court might disagree with the trial court’s findings, but whether

those findings are ‘fairly supported by the record.’”  Id. at 288.  This Court will

review de novo the military judge’s decision to dismiss based on a violation of the

9



Fifth Amendment due process of law right to a speedy trial since it concerns a

“question of law,” but the Court is bound by “the military judge’s findings of

historical facts unless they are clearly erroneous or unsupported in the record.” 

United States v. Hart, 66 M.J. 273, 276 (C.A.A.F. 2008).

“The abuse of discretion standard calls for more than a mere difference of

opinion.  The challenged action must be ‘arbitrary, fanciful, clearly unreasonable, or

clearly erroneous.’”  United States v. Henning, 75 M.J. 187, 191 (C.A.A.F. 2016)

(quoting United States v. White, 69 M.J. 236, 239 (C.A.A.F. 2010), additional

citations and internal quotations omitted), reconsideration denied, 75 M.J. 317

(C.A.A.F. Apr. 26, 2016) .

A military judge abuses his discretion only when his “findings of fact are

clearly erroneous, the court’s decision is influenced by an erroneous view of the law,

or the military judge’s decision on the issue at hand is outside the range of choices

reasonably arising from the applicable facts and the law.”  United States v. Stellato,

74 M.J. 473, 480 (C.A.A.F. 2015) (quoting United States v. Miller, 66 M.J. 306, 307

(C.A.A.F. 2008)).

10



B. All of the Pertinent Military Judge’s Findings of Fact are Supported by
the Record; the Lower Court’s Findings to the Contrary are Clearly
Erroneous.

1.  Advice PM gave to DS

The Air Force CCA found that:

We note here that in his findings of fact the military judge found that
“DS claimed in her 2014 interview with CGIS that [PM] told her not to
pursue the rape allegation when she was still a cadet at the USCGA.”
(Emphasis added).  Having carefully reviewed the record before us, we
note that DS asserts PM’s recommendation was to not continue
counseling.  DS made no assertion that PM told her not to pursue a rape
allegation.  We therefore conclude that the military judge’s finding of
fact that DS claimed that PM told her not to pursue the rape allegation
is unsupported by record (sic) and therefore clearly erroneous.

Mangahas, slip op. at 9.

The Air Force CCA’s finding is erroneous for several reasons.  First, the

military judge’s findings of fact are supported by the transcript of the 2014

videotaped statement; it would be reasonable for the military judge to infer that if a

counselor discourages counseling for a rape, the same counselor would also

discourage pursuing the prosecution of the same allegation of rape.  It makes no

logical sense that a counselor would encourage a victim to proceed with an

investigation and prosecution of a rape but simultaneously tell the victim not to seek

psychological help to cope with the rape.  To the extent that the military judge’s

conclusion is an inference from the record, it was a reasonable one for him to make

11



and inappropriate for the Air Force CCA to substitute its own judgment for that of the

military judge.  See Baker, 70 M.J. at 288 (observing “the question is not whether a

reviewing court might disagree with the trial court’s findings, but whether those

findings are fairly supported by the record”).

Second, while accurate that the 2014 videotaped statement mentions counseling

rather than an investigation, the written statements before the military judge clearly

stated that DS told PM she did not want to “come forward with an investigation.” 

Inexplicably, the lower court’s opinion sets out this language in the paragraph just

preceding the opinion’s quotation of the statement from 2014, but completely ignores

it in its analysis.  Mangahas, slip op. at 12.  Consistent with the military judge’s

interpretation of what DS says transpired between DS and PM, the PHO noted in his

report that DS “stated that she discussed the assault with the Academy’s counselor,

Mrs. [PM], but [PM] discouraged her from pursuing the case.”  App. Ex. VIII, Att.

2.

Because there is evidence in the record supporting the military judge’s finding

that DS’s prior statements claimed that PM discouraged her from further counseling

as well as proceeding with an investigation and prosecution of the reported rape, the

military judge did not abuse his discretion.  The lower court’s substitution of its own

judgment to the contrary is based on a clearly erroneous reading of the record.

12



2. The substance of PM’s testimony

The Air Force CCA found that any conclusions about the substance of PM’s

testimony were speculative.  Mangahas, slip op. at 10-11.  This finding is likewise

clearly erroneous. 

As a preliminary matter, it is fundamentally unfair to find against Lt Col

Mangahas on this point when it is the Government’s gross negligence that caused the

substance of PM’s potential testimony to become unavailable.  As previously

discussed, had CGIS interviewed PM in 1997 or 1998, or asked her any relevant

questions about this allegation in 2014 when it finally did speak with her, PM’s

viewpoint would have been preserved despite her death.  This result is especially

troubling, considering the Government’s own conduct aggravated this situation when

its failure to disclose her contact information as a potential witness, even after

multiple requests, delayed the Defense learning of PM’s significance until it was too

late to ask her questions relevant to preparing Lt Col Mangahas’s defense.

Even setting aside the Air Force CCA’s failure to address the fundamental

unfairness of its reasoning that the military judge’s conclusion about PM’s testimony

was speculative, the lower court was simply incorrect.  The SJA’s testimony provides

ample evidence to support the conclusion that PM – a counselor who was at the

forefront of addressing sexual assault at the USCGA and who established a support

13



group for cadets who were victims of sexual assault – would not discourage DS from

counseling or from proceeding with a legitimate case.  The military judge arrived at

his finding that PM’s testimony was vital to the Defense not by guessing what she

would say, but based on sworn testimony subject to trial counsel’s cross-examination,

as described above.  AE XIII.  This evidence supports the military judge’s conclusion

that PM would have seriously impeached DS.  The military judge’s findings and

conclusions with regard to PM are correct.  It is the Air Force CCA’s reasoning that

is unsupported.

C . The Air Force CCA Erred in Finding No Due Process Violation: Lt Col
Mangahas Established an Egregious Delay and Actual Prejudice.

Long ago, both the Supreme Court and this Court recognized that the Fifth

Amendment’s Due Process Clause protects an accused against egregious or

oppressive pre-charging delay.  United States v. Lovasco, 431 U.S. 783, 789 (1977);

United States v. Vogan, 35 M.J. 32, 34 (C.M.A. 1992).7  Due process concerns apply

when there is either an intentional or an egregious delay; the reason for the delay is

relevant to the inquiry, as is whether an accused is prejudiced.  United States v. Reed,

41 M.J. 449, 452 (C.A.A.F. 1995) (citing Lovasco, 431 U.S. at 790).  “The defense

may establish prejudice by showing: (1) the actual loss of a witness, as well as the

7 The Supreme Court recently reaffirmed this principle.  Betterman v. Montana,
136 S. Ct. 1609, 1613 (2016).
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substance of their testimony and the efforts made to locate them, or (2) the loss of

physical evidence.”  Id. (citations and internal quotes omitted).  The record

demonstrates that Lt Col Mangahas made both showings below, and the military

judge correctly found a due process violation.  Under the law and the facts, his

dismissal of the charge and specification with prejudice should not have been

disturbed by the Air Force CCA.

1. The delay was egregious 

The military judge’s finding that the delay in this case – over 19 years, 4

months and 13 days between the alleged offense and arraignment, which is 7,073

days – is egregious is supported by the record and correct in law.  The Air Force CCA

did not take issue with this finding.

The Government’s negligence (or even gross negligence) in failing to conduct

any investigation at all after multiple Government agents, including law enforcement,

became aware of the allegation, is inexcusable.  The only justification for the delay

the Government offered was the cooperation or non-cooperation of the complaining

witness.  Although certainly DS’s input should have been considered at the time, it

was not dispositive and was irrelevant to whether the Government should conduct a

timely investigation to support an informed decision as to the proper disposition of

the case.  In other words, DS had a “vote,” but not a “veto.”
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Although there is an absence of military cases addressing the issue, this Court

has considered Government negligence in analyzing the character of the

Government’s action with respect to the reason for the delay.  United States v. Reap,

41 M.J. 340, 342 (C.A.A.F. 1995) (“the delay period found here does not amount to

an egregious or blatantly negligent trial delay or a tactical delay ... incurred in

reckless disregard of circumstances, known to the prosecution, suggesting that there

exists an appreciable risk that delay would impair the ability to mount an effective

defense.”) (citations and internal quotes omitted, emphasis added).  Some civilian

courts also have found that mere negligence can supply the “improper purpose” to

which the cases underlying Reed refer.  See United States v. Moran, 759 F.2d 777,

782 (9th Cir. 1985) (“The determination of whether a pre-indictment delay has

violated due process is essentially decided under a balancing test, and we do not find

that intent or reckless behavior by the government is an essential ingredient in the

mix.  If mere negligent conduct by the prosecutors is asserted, then obviously the

delay and/or prejudice suffered by the defendant will have to be greater than that in

cases where recklessness or intentional governmental conduct is alleged.”) (citations

omitted); United States v. Mays, 549 F.2d 670, 678 (9th Cir. 1977) (“although

weighted less heavily than deliberate delays, negligent conduct can also be

considered, since the ultimate responsibility for such circumstances must rest with the
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government rather than the defendant.”) (citing United States v. Barket, 530 F.2d 189,

195 (8th Cir. 1976)). 

In fact, the concurring opinion in one of the Supreme Court’s seminal cases on

this issue discusses at some length the concept of government negligence:

When is governmental delay reasonable?  Clearly, a deliberate attempt
by the government to use delay to harm the accused, or governmental
delay that is ‘purposeful or oppressive,’ is unjustifiable. . . . The same
may be true of any governmental delay that is unnecessary, whether
intentional or negligent in origin.  A negligent failure by the government
to ensure speedy trial is virtually as damaging to the interests protected
by the right as an intentional failure; when negligence is the cause, the
only interest necessarily unaffected is our common concern to prevent
deliberate misuse of the criminal process by public officials.  Thus the
crucial question in determining the legitimacy of governmental delay
may be whether it might reasonably have been avoided—whether it was
unnecessary.  To determine the necessity for governmental delay, it
would seem important to consider, on the one hand, the intrinsic
importance of the reason for the delay, and, on the other, the length of
the delay and its potential for prejudice to interests protected by the
speedy-trial safeguard.  For a trivial objective, almost any delay could
be reasonably avoided.  Similarly, lengthy delay, even in the interest of
realizing an important objective, would be suspect.

United States v. Marion, 404 U.S. 307, 334 (1971) (Douglas, J., concurring) (quoting

Dickey v. Florida, 398 U.S. 30, 51-52 (1970) (Brennan, J., concurring) (emphasis

added).

When the Government failed to properly investigate DS’s claim and did

nothing, literally, from 1998 to 2014, such conduct constituted, at best, a “reckless

disregard of circumstances, known to the prosecution, suggesting that there existed
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an appreciable risk that delay would impair the ability to mount an effective defense.” 

Despite a sworn, written statement alleging DS was a rape victim, there is no

evidence that CGIS conducted any follow up interviews with DS or any other

potential witnesses, examined the scene of the alleged crime (a dorm room at the

Coast Guard Academy, to which the Government had access and control), or

performed any investigation at all.  The failure to document and catalogue evidence

readily available at the time recklessly disregarded the difficulty the Government’s

conduct would present for an accused to defend himself after a more than 19-year

delay between the allegation and the trial.

As mentioned, the Government offered as its sole justification for the delay that

the complaining witness in this case did not want to cooperate with the prosecution

in 1997-1998.  R. at 83.  There is conflicting evidence in the record on this point,

because the totality of DS’s written and oral statements indicate that she initially

wanted to go forward but claimed in 2014 that she was dissuaded in 1997 by persons

in authority – the SJA and an Academy counselor, specifically – who told her that it

would be in her best interest not to proceed.  The bottom line, however, is whether

DS wanted a prosecution to proceed ignores the controlling issue, i.e., the

Government’s independent duty to investigate a serious criminal allegation.  While

DS’s input should have been considered with regard to any subsequent prosecution,
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she was not the ultimate decision-maker—especially concerning whether even a

preliminary investigation would take place to preserve key evidence in the event of

a subsequent prosecution. 

The relevant question is what action law enforcement officials and the

convening authority took in response to DS’s complaint of rape.  It is uncontested that

in 1998 CGIS was aware that this complainant alleged she was raped while a student

at the Academy.  AE X, Att. 8.  There is no explanation as to why it failed to conduct

even the most perfunctory investigation, nor is there any documentation of any

declination by the complainant that could possibly justify such a lack of diligence. 

It is also undisputed that, according to DS, at some point in the same time frame, two

officers in the SJA’s office and several other Academy officials became aware of her

allegation.  AE XIII.  Those officials included DS’s company commander, the

counselor, the members of the Executive Board in the unrelated rape allegation to

which DS was a witness, and presumably the Superintendent of the Academy who

should have reviewed the records from the Executive Board that resulted in the

unrelated rape case.  The convening authority, who was on notice of a serious

allegation of crime, at a minimum via his legal advisor, had an obligation to conduct

an investigation and make an independent decision based on that investigation

whether to prosecute.  He did not do so.
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Law enforcement should have investigated.  The convening authority should

have asked the complaining witness her preference on how to handle the case once

the relevant facts were documented.  The convening authority then should have

exercised his discretion to make a decision regarding disposition of the case.  None

of this happened, and it is the Government’s fault.  The Government’s reliance on a

witness’s willingness or unwillingness to testify may have contributed to the delay,

but, as the military judge correctly found, this was not a justifiable reason for the

extraordinarily lengthy delay in this case.  AE XV at 16.  In any event, the issue of

whether to refer a case to trial based on witness preference or availability, or any

other issue, is separate and apart from the duty to make a timely investigation,

preserving evidence, and documenting events for future use.

The lengthy, unwarranted delay was egregious.

2. Lt Col Mangahas suffered actual prejudice

a. Death of PM without preserving her testimony

The Air Force CCA held that because the SJA and the friend to whom DS

allegedly reported the rape the next morning could impeach DS at trial, Lt Col

Mangahas was not prejudiced due to PM’s death.  Mangahas, slip op. at 12.  This

holding is likewise erroneous.
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First, the lower court ignored that the Government argued during pretrial

motions that it intended to impeach the SJA’s testimony at trial.  R. 82.  Second, it

failed to acknowledge the clear “preference for live testimony” over alternatives to

testimony.  United States v. Cokeley, 22 M.J. 225, 229 (C.M.A. 1986).  Seeing PM’s

demeanor when answering questions about her interaction with DS would have been

extremely valuable when evaluating her credibility compared to DS’s.  Third, the

lower court’s opinion does not account for the concept that just because members

might hear impeachment of a witness and yet believe that witness, one cannot assume

that if presented with further impeachment, the members would continue to believe

the witness.  United States v. Brickey, 16 M.J. 258, 265-66 (C.M.A. 1983) (“The fact

that court-martial members believe a witness despite circumstances A and B, which

tend to impair his credibility, does not mean they will continue to believe him if

impeaching circumstance C is added.”).  In other words, even if contradicted by two

witnesses who admittedly suffer some degradation in their memory due to the passage

of time, PM’s live testimony denying that she told DS not to continue counseling or

proceed with the case could be the “straw that breaks the camel’s back” when the

members are deciding whether to believe DS’ testimony.

Finally, the Air Force CCA’s theory that PM would have hurt the Defense

rather than helped because it would be a “fresh complaint” admissible to rebut a
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Defense theory that DS made the claim in order to obtain VA benefits is

unpersuasive.  The “VA benefits” theory is not the only theory that exists to explain

why DS would fabricate being raped.  And, PM’s advice to DS will be an issue in the

case regardless of the Defense theory, because DS’s written and verbal statements all

contain references to PM.  Being able to fully present a defense by impeaching DS

with PM as a live witness was crucial for Lt Col Mangahas’ defense.

All parties agree that this is a hotly contested, “he-said she-said” case with no

physical evidence, no forensic evidence, no eyewitness testimony (other than DS

herself), and no admission or confession.  Thus, DS’s credibility is the paramount

issue.  PM likely would have been a critical fact and character witness, and Lt Col

Mangahas is significantly prejudiced by her death before anyone interviewing her to

determine whether DS accurately described the nature and content of their interaction.

Had the Government promptly investigated this allegation, certainly PM’s

reaction to DS’s allegation that PM discouraged her from counseling or going

forward with the case would have been preserved.  Instead, almost two decades later,

the Government repeatedly refused to disclose any information about PM, despite

multiple Defense requests.  The Government even neglected to inform the Defense

that law enforcement interviewed her at all by omitting her name from the witness list

provided shortly before the Article 32, UCMJ preliminary hearing.  Had CGIS or
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AFOSI interviewed PM even a few years after the alleged rape, and failed to ask her

any questions at all about her interaction with the student sexual assault victim

support group and DS, defense counsel (assuming we were notified of the interview)

would have had time to review the thoroughness of that interview and evaluate

whether to ask additional relevant questions.  The Government destroyed this

opportunity when it delayed over a decade-and-a-half to begin an investigation into

this allegation, and this key witness died without being properly interviewed by either

side.

The military judge’s findings and conclusions with regard to PM are correct;

her death under these circumstances constitutes actual prejudice.

b. Loss of other evidence

The Air Force CCA failed to acknowledge the loss of other evidence due to the

passage of almost two decades, for example: (1) the ability to identify and interview

witnesses who lived near DS at the relevant time and might have been able to rebut

her claim that Lt Col Mangahas went to her room on a Saturday night in February

1997; (2) forensic evidence from the ejaculation she describes in the written

statements; (3) identification of other fact witnesses (including, but not limited to

those who may have supported an alibi defense) and character witnesses who are now

unknown and unavailable; and (4) the fact that even the few known witnesses’s
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memories have now faded.  Had Lt Col Mangahas been notified in a timely manner

that he was accused of raping DS, he could have taken steps to identify and preserve

evidence to defend himself.

3. Public perception of fairness

Another argument the Air Force CCA failed to acknowledge in its opinion is

the prejudice suffered due to the impact on the public’s perception of the fairness and

integrity of the military justice system.  See United States v. Haney, 64 M.J. 101, 108

(C.A.A.F. 2006); United States v. Toohey, 63 M.J. 353, 362 (C.A.A.F. 2006). 

Surprising an exceptionally successful Air Force Officer with an accusation as

heinous as rape after an extensive and unjustified Government-caused delay certainly

reflects poorly on the fairness and integrity of the system.

D. Conclusion.

Bringing this case to trial almost two decades after the claim was allegedly

made but not investigated constituted an egregious delay.  Lt Col Mangahas has

suffered actual prejudice from the delay.  The military judge’s findings of fact are

supported by the record and his conclusions of law are based on a thorough

evaluation and correct interpretation of the law.  The dismissal was not “arbitrary,

fanciful, clearly unreasonable, or clearly erroneous.”  United States v. Henning, 75
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M.J. at 191. The military judge did not abuse his discretion in granting the Defense's 

motion to dismiss based on violation ofLt Col Mangahas's right to a speedy trial. 

PRAYER 

The Air Force CCA's opinion conflicts with applicable decisions of this Court 

and the United States Supreme Court. Good cause exists for this Honorable Court to 

grant review. Lt Col Mangahas respectfully requests that this Court grant review, 

reverse the lower court, and affirm the military judge's mling dismissing the Charge 

and Specification with prejudice. 
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UNITED STATES AIR FORCE 
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________________________ 

Misc. Dkt. No. 2016-10 
________________________ 
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v. 

Edzel A. MANGAHAS 
Lieutenant Colonel (O-5), U.S. Air Force, Appellee 

________________________ 

Appeal by the United States Pursuant to Article 62, UCMJ 

Decided 4 April 2017 
________________________ 
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rine E. Oler, USAF; Gerald R. Bruce, Esquire. 

For Appellee: Terri R. Zimmerman, Esquire (argued); Major Johnathan 
Legg, USAF; Jack B. Zimmerman, Esquire. 

Before DUBRISKE, HARDING, and C. BROWN, Appellate Military 
Judges. 

Judge HARDING delivered the opinion of the Court, in which Senior 
Judge DUBRISKE and Judge C. BROWN joined.1  

________________________ 

This is an unpublished opinion and, as such, does not serve as 
precedent under AFCCA Rule of Practice and Procedure 18.4. 

________________________ 

                                                      
1 Senior Judge Dubriske participated in this decision prior to his reassignment. 



United States v. Mangahas, Misc. Dkt. 2016-10 

 

2 

 

HARDING, Judge: 

A single charge and specification of rape in violation of Article 120, Uniform 
Code of Military Justice (UCMJ), 10 U.S.C. § 920, alleged to have occurred in 
February of 1997, was preferred against Appellee on 28 October 2015.2 Finding 
the pre-preferral delay in this case violated the Due Process Clause of the Fifth 
Amendment,3 the military judge granted Appellee’s motion to dismiss the 
charge with prejudice. The Government filed an interlocutory appeal under 
Article 62, UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 862, challenging the military judge’s ruling. The 
Government avers: (1) that certain aspects of the military judge’s findings of 
fact were clearly erroneous; (2) that the military judge applied the incorrect 
legal standard for when a pre-preferral delay violates Fifth Amendment due 
process; and (3) that the military judge erroneously concluded the pre-preferral 
delay in excess of 18 years was egregious and that the death of a potential 
witness resulted in actual prejudice to Appellee. We conclude the military 
judge abused his discretion in finding actual prejudice and thus grant the Gov-
ernment’s appeal.4 

I. BACKGROUND 

In February 1997, Appellee and DS, the alleged victim, were cadets attend-
ing the United States Coast Guard Academy (USCGA) in New London, Con-
necticut. Although DS made her allegation against Appellee known to legal 
and other USCGA officials prior to her graduation in May 1998, there is noth-
ing in the record to directly establish or even imply that any USCGA official or 
agency initiated an investigation of DS’s sexual assault claim. Coast Guard 
Captain (CAPT) TM, the USCGA staff judge advocate from 1994 to 1998, re-
called that he became aware of DS’s sexual assault claim after reviewing a 
written statement she provided for a separate sexual assault investigation. 
Specifically, DS provided a written witness statement for a joint investigation 
conducted in early 1998 by the Coast Guard Investigative Service (CGIS) and 
the Connecticut State Police into an alleged off-installation sexual assault of 
another female cadet by another male cadet. DS reported in her witness state-
ment that she overheard what she believed to be sexual activity accompanied 
by someone crying in the bedroom next to the one she was in. She described 

                                                      
2 The specification reflects the version of the punitive article in effect prior to 1 October 
2007 and reads: “in that [Appellee] did, at or near the United States Coast Guard Acad-
emy, Connecticut, between on or about 1 February 1997 and on or about 28 February 
1997, rape [DB], then known as [DS].”  
3 U.S. CONST. amend V. 
4 We heard oral argument in this case on 24 January 2017. 
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that while overhearing this activity she was “in a state halfway between being 
fully awake and dreaming.” She further wrote that she remembered her dream 
of the two cadets in the adjacent room “and then the dream turning into me 
and the guy who raped me last year.” (Emphasis added) DS did not identify 
Appellee as her attacker in this statement. 

According to CAPT TM, he met with DS prior to her graduation from the 
USCGA in May 1998 to discuss what she meant by “the guy who raped me last 
year” in her written statement. At the preliminary hearing for this case, CAPT 
TM explained that during that meeting DS told him about a sexual assault 
committed by Appellee against her in her dorm room in February 1997. Ac-
cording to CAPT TM, however, DS did not want to go forward with a sexual 
assault prosecution at that time and therefore his office did not pursue an in-
vestigation, consider preferral of a charge, or explore referral of the allegation 
to a civilian jurisdiction.5 Over 16 years passed before DS again spoke with 
military investigative or prosecutorial authorities about the alleged 1997 sex-
ual assault by Appellee.  

In January 2014, DS reported to the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) 
that Appellee had raped her in 1997. DS was subsequently interviewed by 
CGIS on 5 October 2014.6 In addition to providing details about the sexual 
assault, she also recounted to whom she had reported it while still a cadet at 
USCGA. Among those persons is PM, a former USGCA cadet counselor. DS 
recalls that she met with PM within a month of the alleged sexual assault. 
According to DS, PM recommended she not continue counseling for the sexual 
                                                      
5 CAPT TM knew that as part of an alternate disposition for a separate and unrelated 
allegation of sexual misconduct Appellee had graduated from the USCGA in the sum-
mer of 1997 but without a commission from the Coast Guard. By the spring of 1998 
when CAPT TM recalls speaking to DS, he states he was unaware Appellee had been 
commissioned in the United States Air Force and assumed Appellee was a civilian. 
CAPT TM thus believed at the time that personal jurisdiction over Appellee for a mil-
itary prosecution was lacking and that sole jurisdiction would be with civilian author-
ities. 
6 The record does not establish precisely what the impetus was for the interview on 5 
October 2014. There is evidence that DS made her claim of rape in January of 2014 in 
conjunction with a visit to the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA). This might sup-
port an inference that the VA forwarded this information to the Coast Guard Investi-
gative Services for review or that DS independently made contact with investigators. 
There is also evidence in the record that the Coast Guard was reviewing the disposition 
of all sexual assault claims at the Coast Guard Academy made in a period to include 
1997 to 1998. Such a review may have included DS’s 1997 claim but the record is silent 
on that point. 
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assault because, to the extent she was seen as having a mental health issue, 
this could negatively impact her prospects for commissioning as an officer. 
CAPT TM, who knew PM in her capacity as a cadet counselor, expressed doubt 
at the preliminary hearing that PM would have ever attempted to dissuade a 
sexual assault victim from obtaining counseling services. PM passed away on 
23 March 2016 without ever being questioned about a counseling session with 
DS regarding the alleged sexual assault and any recommendations she made.  

Appellee claims, and the military judge concluded, that the unavailability 
of PM to testify causes actual prejudice to Appellee. As is further discussed 
below, we disagree and, given this record, do not find actual prejudice.  

Appellee filed multiple pretrial motions to dismiss the Charge and its Spec-
ification arguing, inter alia: (1) a violation of the statute of limitations, (2) a 
violation of his speedy trial rights under the Sixth Amendment7 as well as Rule 
for Courts-Martial (R.C.M.) 707, and (3) a violation of his Fifth Amendment 
due process rights predicated on prejudicial and egregious pre-preferral delay 
that is the subject of this appeal. Appellee was arraigned on 14 June 2016. The 
general court-martial reconvened on 29 July 2016 at which time the military 
judge heard oral argument on the motions to dismiss.  

The military judge issued written rulings on 2 August 2016 denying the 
motions to dismiss for alleged violations of the statute of limitations,8 the 
R.C.M. 707(a) 120-day speedy trial clock, and the Sixth Amendment right to 
speedy trial. The military judge, however, found that the death and resultant 
unavailability of PM to impeach the credibility of DS caused actual prejudice 
to Appellee. Further, finding that the “[G]overnment produced no evidence of 
a justifiable reason for the delay” of “19 years, 4 months, and 13 days from the 
first date of the charged offense of rape” to the date of arraignment, he con-
cluded that the Government’s pre-preferral delay was “egregious.” Finding a 
violation of the Fifth Amendment Due Process Clause, he granted Appellee’s 
motion to dismiss the Charge and its Specification with prejudice. 

Following timely notice of appeal, the Government requested review of the 
following issue: 

WHETHER THE MILITARY JUDGE ABUSED HIS DISCRE-
TION IN DISMISSING THE CHARGE AND SPECIFICATION 

                                                      
7 U.S. CONST. amend. VI. 
8 Under the version of Article 120, UCMJ, in effect at the time of the alleged rape 
offense, death was an authorized punishment and therefore in accordance Article 
43(a), UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 843(a), the charge and specification in this case “may be tried 
and punished at any time without limitation.” 
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WITH PREJUDICE BASED ON A DUE PROCESS VIOLA-
TION OF THE FIFTH AMENDMENT. 

II. JURISDICTION AND STANDARD OF REVIEW 

This court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal under Article 62(a)(1)(A), 
UCMJ, which authorizes the Government to appeal “[a]n order or ruling which 
terminates the proceedings with respect to a charge or specification” in a court-
martial where a punitive discharge may be adjudged. 

Because this issue is before us pursuant to a Government appeal, we may 
act only with respect to matters of law. Article 62(b), UCMJ. We may not make 
findings of fact, as we are limited to determining whether the military judge’s 
factual findings are clearly erroneous or unsupported by the record. United 
States v. Lincoln, 42 M.J. 315, 320 (C.A.A.F. 1995). “When a court is limited to 
reviewing matters of law, the question is not whether a reviewing court might 
disagree with the trial court’s findings, but whether those findings are ‘fairly 
supported by the record.’” United States v. Gore, 60 M.J. 178, 185 (C.A.A.F. 
2004) (quoting United States v. Burris, 21 M.J. 140, 144 (C.M.A. 1985)). We 
review de novo any conclusions of law. Chatfield, 67 M.J. at 437. “A military 
judge abuses his discretion when (1) the findings of fact upon which he predi-
cates his ruling are not supported by the evidence of record; (2) . . . incorrect 
legal principles were used; or (3) . . . his application of the correct legal princi-
ples to the facts is clearly unreasonable.” United States v. Ellis, 68 M.J. 341, 
344 (C.A.A.F. 2010) (citing United States v. Mackie, 66 M.J. 198, 199 (C.A.A.F. 
2008)).  

While we accord substantial deference to a military judge’s factual findings, 
whether the pre-preferral delay violated an accused’s Fifth Amendment due 
process rights is a legal question that we review de novo. See, e.g., United 
States v. Kalbflesh, 621 Fed. Appx. 157, 158 (4th Cir. 2015); United States v. 
Vaughn, 444 Fed. Appx. 875, 878 (6th Cir. 2011).   

III. DISCUSSION 

An accused’s primary protection against unreasonable delay by the govern-
ment in bringing charges is the statute of limitations. United States v. Marion, 
404 U.S. 307, 322 (1971). Still, the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment 
may also provide protection against onerous pre-preferral delay. Id. But to pre-
vail on a Fifth Amendment due process claim predicated on pre-preferral delay, 
an accused must show: (1) “egregious or intentional tactical delay” on the part 
of the government; and (2) that he suffered actual prejudice as a result of the 
delay. United States v. Reed, 41 M.J. 449, 452 (C.A.A.F. 1995). 



United States v. Mangahas, Misc. Dkt. 2016-10 

 

6 

 

A.  Egregious or Intentional Delay 

The first prong focuses on the reasons for the delay. The Government urges 
that to satisfy this first prong, Appellee must show intentional government de-
lay to gain an unfair tactical advantage or for some other bad-faith motive. 
This position is consistent with precedent from several federal circuits. See, 
e.g., United States v. Byrd, 31 F.3d 1329, 1339 (5th Cir. 1994); United States v. 
Hoo, 825 F.2d 667, 671 (2d Cir. 1987); United States v. Ismaili, 828 F.2d 153, 
167 (3d Cir. 1987). But see, e.g., Jones v. Angelone, 94 F.3d 900, 904 (4th Cir. 
1996) (holding once a defendant proves actual prejudice resulting from pre-
indictment delay, the court then balances the defendant’s prejudice against the 
government’s justification for the delay). 

Adopting the “intentional delay” position would make short work of this 
case, as both parties concede that there was no intentional delay. But this po-
sition appears to us to be inconsistent with our superior court’s holding that 
the delay must be “egregious or intentional.” Reed, 41 M.J. at 452 (emphasis 
added). While military courts have had little opportunity to further define 
“egregious,” our superior court’s use of the disjunctive plainly connotes some-
thing in addition to “intentional”—that there is some level of government cul-
pability for delay short of intentional, bad-faith actions that nonetheless meets 
this prong.  

Such a reading is, we believe, consistent with precedent from the United 
States Supreme Court. In United States v. Marion, the Court endorsed a gov-
ernment concession that “the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment 
would require dismissal of the indictment if it were shown at trial that the pre-
indictment delay . . . caused substantial prejudice to appellees’ rights to a fair 
trial and that the delay was an intentional device to gain tactical advantage 
over the accused.” 404 U.S. 307, 324 (1971). But the Court declined to establish 
a precise test or legal standard for when other government delays resulting in 
actual prejudice violate due process. Id. (“[W]e need not, and could not now, 
determine when and in what circumstances actual prejudice resulting from 
pre-accusation delays requires the dismissal of the prosecution.”). See also, 
United States v. Lovasco, 431 U.S. 783, 796–97 (1977) (“In Marion we conceded 
that we could not determine in the abstract the circumstances in which preac-
cusation delay would require dismissing prosecutions. 404 U.S. at 324. More 
than five years later, that statement remains true. Indeed, in the intervening 
years so few defendants have established that they were prejudiced by delay 
that neither this Court nor any lower court has had a sustained opportunity to 
consider the constitutional significance of various reasons for delay.”).  

 

. 
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A more recent explanation of protections against delay is also illuminating:  

Criminal proceedings generally unfold in three discrete phases. 
First, the State investigates to determine whether to arrest and 
charge a suspect. Once charged, the suspect stands accused but 
is presumed innocent until conviction upon trial or guilty plea. 
After conviction, the court imposes sentence. There are checks 
against delay throughout this progression, each geared to its 
particular phase.  

In the first stage—before arrest or indictment, when the suspect 
remains at liberty—statutes of limitations provide the primary 
protection against delay, with the Due Process Clause as a safe-
guard against fundamentally unfair prosecutorial conduct. 
United States v. Lovasco, 431 U.S. 783, 789 [ ] (1977); see id., at 
795, n. 17 [ ] (Due Process Clause may be violated, for instance, 
by prosecutorial delay that is “tactical” or “reckless” (emphasis 
added, internal quotation marks omitted)).  

Betterman v. Montana 136 S. Ct. 1609, 1613 (2016) (emphasis added, quotation 
marks omitted)). 

We thus decline to grant the Government’s appeal on the basis that Appel-
lee failed to demonstrate that the pre-preferral delay was an intentional, bad-
faith tactic and instead grant it by finding a lack of actual prejudice.  

B. Actual Prejudice 

In meeting the burden to prove actual prejudice, speculation is not suffi-
cient. Reed, 41 M.J. at 452. The “possibility of prejudice inherent in any ex-
tended delay: that memories will dim, witnesses become inaccessible, and evi-
dence lost” is not sufficient to demonstrate that an accused cannot receive a 
fair trial. Marion, 404 U.S. at 326. Furthermore, “conclusory allegations of 
prejudice, otherwise unsupported in the record, do not constitute valid grounds 
for dismissal.” Reed, 41 M.J. at 452 (quoting United States v. Comosona, 614 
F.2d 695, 697 (10th Cir. 1980)). Prejudice may be demonstrated by showing: 
“(1) the actual loss of a witness, as well as ‘the substance of their testimony 
and the efforts made to locate them,’ or (2) the loss of physical evidence.” Id. 
(quoting United States v. Tousant, 619 F.2d 810 (9th Cir. 1980)) (internal cita-
tions omitted). Finally, the prejudice must be a substantial prejudice to an Ap-
pellee’s rights to a fair trial to the point where it “would impair the ability to 
mount an effective defense.” Reed, 41 M.J. at 452 (quoting Lovasco, 431 U.S. 
at 795 n.17. 

In his written ruling, the military judge found, “In this credibility only case, 
the death of the cadet counselor, Ms. [PM], causes actual prejudice.” In order 
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to assess whether that is the case, it is necessary to review the record and de-
termine: (1) what the substance of PM’s trial testimony would have been, and 
(2) whether Appellee is able to mount an effective defense without that trial 
testimony.  

1. Substance of PM’s Testimony 

We note at the outset that PM never made a written statement about her 
counseling session with DS, that PM was never interviewed by any investiga-
tor or counsel for either side about the counseling session, and that there were 
no records or notes of the counseling session itself. The exclusive source as to 
the substance of the interactions between DS and PM is DS herself. Given 
these circumstances, it is inherently an exercise in speculation to determine 
whether PM would have recalled, credited, or rebutted the details of the coun-
seling session as provided by DS. Notwithstanding this significant limitation, 
the following examines the record established below to the extent it describe 
this one-time counseling session between DS and PM. 

During the interview conducted by CGIS on 5 October 2014, in addition to 
alleging that Appellee sexually assaulted her in her barracks room in February 
1997, DS provided a chronology of whom she told about it. PM was one of the 
people to whom DS stated she reported the sexual assault.9 In addition to the 
CGIS interview, there are three undated, unsigned, type-written statements 
offered during motion practice that describe the assault and actions taken by 
DS afterwards that are each on their face purportedly authored by DS prior to 
her 1998 graduation from USCGA.10  

According to DS, she had decided not to report the alleged rape immediately 
for purposes of an investigation but desired to “at least get the fact that what 
happened to me wasn’t okay.” DS describes this as her impetus to meet with 
PM. Two of the three undated, unsigned, type-written statements purportedly 

                                                      
9 DS also claimed to have told fellow female cadet, now Commander SH, the morning 
after the alleged assault.  
10 As part of a Coast Guard review of the handling of sexual assault allegations at 
USCGA, a box marked “property of GS” was located at the USCGA law library. GS was 
a judge advocate assigned at the USCGA in the late 1990s to whom DS claims to have 
reported the sexual assault in the spring of 1997. She says that she provided him a 
written statement. The box contained three type-written, unsigned, and undated state-
ments describing the alleged sexual assault which on their face purport to be state-
ments of DS. The record before us does not establish whether DS affirmatively identi-
fied these statements as prepared by her while a cadet at the USCGA and provided to 
the USCGA legal office. 
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authored by DS contain the following paragraph describing her interaction 
with PM: 

I also talked to one of the cadet counselors, [PM], about the inci-
dent. I had used [Appellee’s] name, at least his first name. I said 
that I did not want to come forward with an investigation due 
the treatment of [sic] the Corps and Administration to the fe-
males who do come forward with having been raped. 

In her October 2014 interview with CGIS, DS provided additional details 
about what she recalled PM telling her and specifically that PM recommended 
she not continue counseling. 

. . . I went to Cadet Counseling and met with her once . . . I can’t 
remember her last name; I think it was “M[ ].” And she was like, 
“Well, if you continue, this could look bad, because they could 
say that you have a mental health issue, and you may not be, 
you know, be able to be commissioned.” So she recommended 
that I don’t continue counseling. And so I didn’t go any further 
with that. 

We note here that in his findings of fact the military judge found that “DS 
claimed in her 2014 interview with CGIS that [PM] told her not to pursue the 
rape allegation when she was still a cadet at the USCGA.” (Emphasis added). 
Having carefully reviewed the record before us, we note that DS asserts PM’s 
recommendation was to not continue counseling. DS made no assertion that 
PM told her not to pursue a rape allegation. We therefore conclude that the 
military judge’s finding of fact that DS claimed that PM told her not to pursue 
the rape allegation is unsupported by record and therefore clearly erroneous. 
He later marshals this erroneous finding of fact to buttress his legal conclusion 
of actual prejudice.  

In support of the contention that the substance of PM’s testimony would in 
fact rebut DS’s claim that she recommended that DS discontinue counseling 
for the sexual assault, the military judge referenced the Article 32 testimony 
of CAPT TM.11 The military judge provided the following analysis in his writ-
ten ruling: 

DS claims that [PM] told her not to pursue the rape case. DS 
also said that CAPT [TM] told her not to pursue the rape case. 
CAPT [TM] said he never told DS not to pursue the allegation, 
and that [PM] would have never done so either, adding that [PM] 

                                                      
11 As noted, the military judge erroneously framed this as a recommendation not to 
pursue a rape case. Notably, CAPT TM’s testimony addressed the counseling issue. 
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has established a support group for cadets who were victims of 
sexual assault and that [PM] has little tolerance for sexual mis-
conduct. He added that [PM] was at the forefront of eliminating 
sexual assault on college campuses in the 90s, and that [if] DS 
told him and [PM] that she was raped, the two of them would 
never have let [Appellee] leave USCGA. 

The military judge, however, stopped short of making an express finding of 
fact with regard to what the substance of PM’s testimony would actually be. 
Instead, he characterized the impact of the unavailability of PM as a witness 
on Appellee’s ability to mount an effective defense as follows. 

Whether DS has an MRE 608(c) motive to fabricate to obtain a 
better disability rating with the VA when she went there in 2014 
to report this incident to them, and whether DS may have as-
serted to the VA that she was told by CAPT [TM] and [PM] not 
to go forward in an effort to explain, for the purposes of increased 
VA benefits, why her rape accusation was never adjudicated, is 
a valid defense theory the accused can no longer explore because 
there is no way to adequately rebut DS’s accusations regarding 
PM. 

As noted above, the record does not support a claim by DS that PM recom-
mended that she not go forward with a rape prosecution. The accusation 
against PM that the military judge found critical for Appellee to rebut is not 
supported by the record in the first place. Regardless, as noted above, specula-
tion is unavoidable in determining what the substance of testimony would be. 
One could, relying on the testimony of CAPT TM, find it more likely that PM 
recommended counseling rather than recommend against it.  

2. Ability to Mount an Effective Defense without PM 

The case for actual prejudice predicated on the military judge’s unsup-
ported finding of fact may be summed up as this: were PM to testify, she would 
flatly deny telling any sexual assault victim, to include DS, not to pursue an 
allegation of sexual assault. Furthermore, depending how the evidence was put 
on at trial, this testimony might serve to undermine explanations provided by 
DS in 2014 to the VA and CGIS as to why she did not press her case while she 
was still a cadet at USCGA. Arguably, DS felt compelled to provide explana-
tions in 2014 as to why she did not immediately report the sexual assault to 
law enforcement or express a clear desire to go forward while still a cadet at 
USCGA. If PM had recommended that DS not pursue the rape case, as the 
military judge mistakenly found DS had claimed, that would provide an un-
derstandable explanation. Conversely, were PM to utterly deny she made such 
a recommendation and was found credible on that point, that testimony would 
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not only impeach DS by contradiction, but also suggest a motive by DS to fab-
ricate. The motive to fabricate would be rooted in pursuing a better disability 
rating from the VA and could extend to DS engaging in revisionist history as 
to some of the details of what she said and did in 1997–1998 with regard to the 
alleged sexual assault and to the veracity of the alleged assault itself. But these 
arguments lose some of their weight as DS did not claim that PM told her not 
to pursue the rape allegation. Even so, it is Appellee’s contention that PM 
would have directly rebutted DS’s claim that PM recommended DS discontinue 
counseling and that such rebuttal would have the same detrimental impact on 
the credibility of DS. While it is possible that it might have some impact, this 
conclusion remains speculative. 

Furthermore, PM’s unavailability does not preclude exploring or present-
ing evidence of a defense theory that DS fabricated a rape claim in order to 
obtain a better disability rating with the VA. Appellee is certainly able to cross-
examine DS as to her motivations for reporting the sexual assault to the VA 
and establish a motive to fabricate and attribute false statements to CAPT TM 
and PM. Appellee can call CAPT TM as a witness to directly rebut her claims 
about what he told her. As for PM, CAPT TM could also testify to some predi-
cate facts about PM to support an inference that PM would not have recom-
mended that DS not pursue counseling. The military judge himself, when dis-
cussing the loss of an opportunity for Appellee to interview PM and ask 
“whether [she] discouraged DS from proceeding forward with her case” as al-
leged by DS, found such discouragement by PM “unlikely.” We note that the 
military judge made this finding without ever hearing from PM. 

Returning to the two-prong analysis that we laid out for examining actual 
prejudice in this case, we determine as a matter of law that Appellee has not 
established actual prejudice.  

First, the actual substance of what PM’s trial testimony would be is specu-
lative. Given that DS presented herself to PM with no intent to report the rape, 
rooted in concerns over how she would be treated, it is a reasonable expectation 
that PM would have addressed those concerns in some fashion. Whether she 
would have attempted to disabuse DS of those concerns or whether she vali-
dated them somewhat by acknowledging the challenges that the criminal pro-
cess brings to any victim or the reality that certain mental health diagnoses 
could create issues of suitability or fitness for military service, either course of 
action is certainly plausible. While a counselor might not view such a discus-
sion as a recommendation against counseling, someone in DS’s shoes who al-
ready has those concerns may well have perceived it that way. Regardless, the 
point is that the precise contours and context of PM’s unavailable testimony is 
highly speculative.  
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Further, even assuming that PM were to directly rebut DS, the absence of 
that testimony, as discussed above, does not deny Appellee the ability to mount 
an effective defense. In addition to the ability to raise the VA disability benefits 
as a motive to fabricate, Appellee has at least two witnesses that this court is 
aware of who can impeach DS’s credibility. First is CAPT TM, especially as to 
her account of how she reported and when she did so. Second is Commander 
SH who, contrary to DS’s assertion, denies that DS ever told her about being 
sexually assaulted. Finally, in assessing how the absence of PM’s testimony 
potentially impacts Appellee’s ability to mount a defense, we note that an ob-
vious import of PM’s unavailable testimony is that DS made a complaint to a 
USCGA official within weeks of the alleged sexual assault. “Fresh complaint” 
evidence or evidence of reporting a sexual assault close in time has often been 
viewed as corroborative of the complaint itself. PM’s potential testimony, in 
addition to possibly addressing a recommendation regarding continued coun-
seling, would also potentially establish that DS reported the sexual assault to 
a USCGA official within the same month. Further, if Appellee were to put on 
evidence of a motive to fabricate the sexual assault to the VA, then any details 
that DS provided PM about the sexual assault itself may be admissible for sub-
stantive purposes as a prior consistent statement under Mil. R. Evid. 
801(d)(1)(B). Perhaps what this best illustrates is the difficulty in assessing 
actual prejudice before the case is even tried. 

IV. CONCLUSION

The appeal of the United States under Article 62, UCMJ, is GRANTED. 
The military judge’s ruling to grant the defense motion to dismiss is VA-
CATED. The record is returned to the Judge Advocate General for remand to 
the military judge for action consistent with this opinion. 

FOR THE COURT 
 
 
LAQUITTA J. SMITH 
Appellate Paralegal Specialist 
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DEPARTMENT OF THE AIR FORCE 
UNITED STATES AIR FORCE TRIAL JUDICIARY

    ) 
UNITED STATES      ) RULING ON DEFENSE   

    ) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR
v. ) DENIAL OF RIGHT TO 

    ) SPEEDY TRIAL  
LT COL EDZEL D. MANGAHAS     )  
388th Operations Group (ACC)     ) 2 August 2016 
Hill AFB, Utah     ) 

    ) 

RELIEF SOUGHT

On 10 July 2016, the accused, by and through his defense counsel, moved this Court to 
dismiss the Charge and Specification against the accused for a violation of his speedy 
trial rights (Appellate Exhibit X).  On 17 July 2016, the government filed a written 
response in opposition (Appellate Exhibit XI).  On 22 July 2016, the defense filed an 
objection (Appellate Exhibit XII) to portions of the timeline contained in Attachment 1 to 
the government’s written response in opposition to the defense’s speedy trial motion; 
however, the defense agreed, for the limited purposes of this motion, to the timeline in 
the facts section of the government’s motion itself.  The parties also asked me to consider 
the audio from the Article 32 preliminary hearing in its entirety, which was provided to 
the Court on 30 July 2016.  The named victim in this case is represented by a special 
victim’s counsel (SVC). Both the SVC and her client were made aware of the Article 
39(a) session on 29 July 2016; however, neither the named victim nor her SVC decided 
to attend (or participate via VTC or otherwise) that hearing.  The Court considered the 
written motions, the defense’s objections to the timeline, the Article 32 audio (Appellate 
Exhibit XIII), the relevant law, and the arguments of counsel during the Article 39(a) 
session on 29 July 2016.  The Court finds, concludes, and rules as follows: 

ESSENTIAL FINDINGS OF FACT

1. D.S., the named victim in this case, alleges that the accused raped her in February 
1997 when they were both cadets at the U.S. Coast Guard Academy (USCGA).   

2. D.S. is represented by Capt Jennifer M. Lake, her SVC.  The government informed 
the SVC and her client about the 29 July 2016 Article 39(a) (Appellate Exhibit XVI), but 
neither D.S. nor her SVC decided to attend (either in person, VTC or otherwise) the 
hearing.  

3. D.S. reported the February 1997 rape allegation verbally and in writing to the Staff 
Judge Advocate serving at the USCGA before she graduated on 20 May 1998.   
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4. D.S. also reported the rape to a counselor at the USCGA, Ms. Pam Moulton, at some 
point before she graduated from the USCGA in May 1998.   

5. Following another USCGA sexual assault incident, which D.S. witnessed on 20 
January1998, D.S. told the Coast Guard Investigative Service (CGIS) and local 
Connecticut law enforcement that she was raped in 1997.  Connecticut law enforcement 
were involved because portions of the Coast Guard Academy’s barracks are under 
concurrent jurisdiction.   
  
6. In 1998, before she graduated from the USCGA, D.S. testified in front of a USCGA 
Executive Hearing that she had been raped in 1997. 

7. D.S. reiterated that she reported the alleged rape to USCGA authorities in 1997 
during an October 2014 interview with investigators from CGIS.   

8. Three versions of a written statement D.S. wrote accusing Lt Col Mangahas of raping 
her at the USCGA were found during a search of old files at the USCGA on 30 June 
2015. These statements are undated, but reflect that D.S. was still a Cadet at the USCGA 
when she wrote them.  They were therefore written prior to May 1998.   

9. USCG Captain (Ret.) Thomas J. Mackell was the Staff Legal Officer/Staff Judge 
Advocate (SJA) who was serving at the USCGA at the time of the alleged incident.  Capt
Mackell is now a GS-14 with the Coast Guard and has given over 40 years of his life to 
the Coast Guard, starting when he was a cadet at the USCGA. Capt Mackell confirmed
that D.S. reported the alleged 1997 rape incident to him when she was a USCGA cadet in 
early 1998.  Because the case happened so long ago, Capt Mackell cannot remember 
everything about this case.   

10. D.S. was a witness to an alleged rape between two other USCGA cadets that 
apparently occurred on 20 January1998.  CGIS and the State of Connecticut (where the 
USCGA is located) conducted a joint investigation into that other offense and D.S. was 
interviewed as a witness.  During her interview, D.S. mentioned that she had been raped 
the previous year (i.e., in 1997).  D.S. testified as a witness during a USCGA Executive 
Hearing into this other rape allegation later in 1998, and testified consistently with her 
statement to law enforcement that she had been raped the previous year.  Because of 
these statements to CGIS and USCGA leadership, D.S. ended up in Capt Mackell’s office 
at some point during the Spring (March-May timeframe) of 1998 to talk to him in his role 
as the USCGA’s SJA about the alleged incident between her and the accused in 1997.  
Capt Mackell was clear that the reasons D.S. talked to him was because of her accusation, 
which she reported to law enforcement while being interviewed as a witness to the 
unrelated 20 January1998 incident.  Capt Mackell said this conversation took place in the 
spring of 1998.  He knew that was the time period because he remembered that D.S.
already knew her post-Academy assignment, and opined that this conversation therefore 
occurred in the March-May timeframe of 1998 based on the fact that assignments were 
normally released sometime the first two weeks of March, and D.S. had not yet graduated 
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in May 1998.   

11. Capt Mackell said D.S. “was not chompin’ at the bit” to proceed with the rape case
when she was a cadet.  D.S. disputes this fact.  I find that D.S. wanted to go forward with 
her case back in 1998.  I also find that she may not have been as adamant as she 
otherwise would have been about going forward because of Captain Mackell’s 
representations to her that pursuing the charge would be too hard, and may delay D.S. 
reporting to her first ship. Capt Mackell told D.S. she could pursue the case once she 
became an Ensign as well.  

12. Captain Mackell believed there were evidentiary issues and jurisdictional challenges 
with proceeding with the investigation and subsequent prosecution of the accused back in 
1998. Capt Mackell’s jurisdictional concern with the accused’s case was over his 
confusion about where in the barracks the alleged rape occurred, whether that area was 
concurrent or federal jurisdiction, and how hard it would have been to get jurisdiction 
over a civilian former Coast Guard cadet for a crime that came to light after the accused 
left active Coast Guard duty.  In 1998, the accused had already left the Coast Guard 
Academy due to other misconduct (to include fraternization with a fourth-class cadet).  
Capt Mackell stated that he may have shared those concerns with D.S.   

13. Capt Mackell would have done more with the case had D.S. given him the impression 
she wanted him to do so.  Capt Mackell told D.S. that he would keep the file for five 
years and told D.S. where he would be stationed next (he was about to execute permanent 
change of station orders) and told her to contact him if she changed her mind.  She never 
did contact him.   

14. Capt Mackell said that D.S. never used the word “rape” with him, and he thought she 
was alleging an indecent assault.  He was not actually aware that D.S. was alleging that 
the accused raped her.  Despite Capt Mackell’s statement, however, the statement D.S. 
gave to law enforcement that led her to Capt Mackell’s office clearly said she was raped.  
Specifically, the statement D.S. gave to law enforcement about the other sexual assault 
incident she witnessed in January 1998 was as follows:  

At this time I heard a rhythmic sound of the bed coming from the other room and 
a sound of a female breath escaping, from my experience it sounded like sexual 
intercourse. With all of this, I also heard a crying, a crying of someone in pain, 
[V] saying “alcohol is evil,” and Sean’s muffled words. I kept thinking that I 
needed to get up and go into that room and turn the light on.  Yet I could not. I 
was in a state halfway between being fully awake and dreaming. I remember my 
dream being of Sean and [V] and then the dream turning into me and the guy 
who raped me last year. I just lay frozen in the fetal position. 

Emphasis added.  Moreover, the statements D.S. made to USCGA authorities before she 
graduated the USCGA stated the accused’s penis penetrated her vagina about an inch.  
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15. Capt Mackell did not discuss the case further with CGIS because he thought it would 
have been pointless because of the jurisdictional concerns he thought existed, and 
because D.S. “was not chompin’ at the bit to pursue” the case.” Capt Mackell believed
that if you did not have a willing victim to pursue the allegation, you could not do much 
back then.  The provision in DoD Instruction 6495.02, Enclosure 4, paragraph 1.c(1), 
dated 28 March 2013 that states:  “The victim’s decision to decline to participate in an 
investigation or prosecution should be honored by all personnel charged with the 
investigation and prosecution of sexual assault cases, including, but not limited to, 
commanders,” did not exist in 1997 or 1998.   

16. In January 2014, D.S. reported to the Veterans Administration (VA) that the accused
raped her in 1997.  The report was made after D.S. had been passed over for promotion 
on at least two occasions.   

17. In October 2014, D.S. reported to CGIS again that the accused raped her in 1997.  
There is no evidence of a CGIS or other law enforcement investigation regarding D.S.’s 
rape accusation against the accused from D.S.’s May 1998 graduation from the USCGA 
until D.S’s additional reports to the VA and CGIS in 2014—an over 16-year 
investigatory delay.   

18. No new evidence came to life that warranted dusting off this cold case other than 
D.S.’s decision to meet with the VA and CGIS again in 2014.  The subsequent 
investigation has uncovered no additional evidence to support D.S.’s initial allegations 
she made in 1997.   

19. The parties agreed during the Article 39(a) hearing that this case comes down to the 
credibility of D.S. and, as such, evidence that would tend to strengthen or diminish D.S.’s 
credibility is relevant.  The parties agreed that the case in 1997/1998 would have been a 
credibility case, and that the government’s primary evidence against the accused remains 
D.S.’s allegation of rape against the accused.   

20. No physical, scientific, or medical evidence existed in 1998 to support D.S.’s 
allegations, and that remains true today.   

21. Ms. Pam Moulton was the USCGA counselor D.S. told about the alleged rape while 
D.S. was still a cadet at the USCGA.  Ms. Moulton passed away on 23 March 2016.   

22. In December 2014 (two months after D.S. met with CGIS in October 2014), CGIS 
interviewed Ms. Pamela Moulton.  That interview was recorded, and a copy of that 
recording was provided to the defense in June 2016.   

23. During their December 2014 interview of Ms. Moulton, CGIS did not ask Ms. 
Moulton a single question about D.S.  Instead, CGIS interviewed Ms. Moulton in 
connection with a parallel investigation about the USCGA’s procedures for handling 
sexual assault claims.  
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24. The defense was unable to interview Ms. Moulton before she died.  D.S. claimed in 
her 2014 interview with CGIS that Ms. Moulton told her not to pursue the rape allegation 
when she was still a cadet at the USCGA.  

25. The defense made efforts to obtain Ms. Moulton’s identity and her contact 
information.  Through discovery requests beginning in February 2016, the defense asked 
for the AFOSI and CGIS case files into this case, to specifically include contact 
information for all witnesses who had been interviewed by law enforcement.   

26. On 17 March 2016—one week before Ms. Moulton’s death—the government 
provided what purported to be a list of all witnesses interviewed by CGIS.  Ms. 
Moulton’s name, however, was not included in the list.  D.S., however, had identified 
Ms. Moulton as a potential witness in this case to CGIS in 2014.   

27. Captain Mackell knew Ms. Moulton, and stated that Ms. Moulton had established a 
support group for cadets who were victims of sexual assault. Capt Mackell described Ms. 
Moulton as having little tolerance for sexual misconduct, and as someone at the forefront 
of eliminating sexual assault on college campuses in the 90s.  Capt Mackell also said that 
he and Ms. Moulton would have never allowed the accused to have left the US Coast 
Guard Academy without trial and Academy recoupment if D.S. had ever told either of 
them that the accused allegedly committed a rape.  The accused was allowed to leave the 
USCGA without recoupment. 

28. On 28 October 2015, one Charge and one Specification was preferred against the 
accused alleging rape under the version of Article 120, Uniform Code of Military Justice 
(UCMJ), applicable to sexual offenses committed prior to 1 October 2007.   

29. On 19 April 2016, a preliminary hearing pursuant to Article 32, UCMJ, was 
conducted in this case.  On 27 April 2016, the Preliminary Hearing Officer (PHO) issued 
his report finding no probable cause to proceed.       

30. On 2 June 2016, the convening authority referred the Charge and Specification to trial 
by General Court-Martial.

31. On 14 June 2016, the accused was arraigned.  At that time, Judge (Lt Col) Brendon 
Tukey was the detailed military judge.

32. Lt Col Mangahas asserted his right to a speedy trial in discovery requests dated 3 
February 2016 and 22 April 2016; and again at the 14 June 2016 arraignment.   

33. The defense proposed December 2016 as the date to begin the trial on the merits.  In 
an email sent to trial counsel on 2 June 2016, defense told the government at that time 
that “a prudent motions hearing date would be 19 September [2016], and a trial date for 
early December [2016].” 
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34. Although the government suggested a change in venue during the 14 June 2016 
arraignment, the government has not filed a motion on this matter to date, so there is 
nothing to rule on with respect to this issue.   

35. There has been no pretrial confinement in this case.  Because he has not been subject 
to pretrial confinement or restraint, the defense specifically does not allege a violation of 
Article 10 or Article 33, UCMJ. 

36. The defense does not allege any intentional tactical delay on behalf of the 
government. 

37. In addition to the facts above, and for the purposes of making the dates easier to 
identify, the Court makes the following findings of fact with respect to the government’s
Accountability for the processing of this case to trial: 

Julian 
Date/CY16 
Julian Date

Elapsed
Days/ 

Elapsed 
Days 
from 

Preferral

 Gov’t 
RCM 707
   Days Date Event(s)

01 Feb 97 First charged date of alleged rape 32/-6907 0/0 0
31 May 97 Latest date D.S. claims she reported rape to 

USCGA SJA (written and verbal)
151/-6803 119/0 0

20 Jan 98 D.S. became involved in another investigation 
during which she tells CGIS that she was raped 
in 1997

20/-6555 353/0 0

31 May 98 Last day D.S. would have possibly met with Ms. 
Moulhun, former USCGA counselor, about rape

151/-6424 484/0 0

1 Jan 14 Earliest approximate date D.S. reports rape to VA 1/-364 6178/0 0
5 Oct 14 CGIS interview of D.S. about 1997 rape 278/-87 6455/0 0
28 Oct 15 Charge and specification preferred against Acc 301/-64 6843/0

[18yrs, 
8 mos, 

27 days]

0

28 Oct 15 Mil Judge requested for Art 32 PHO 301/-64 6843/0 0
3 Nov 15 Defense requested delay in providing available 

dates for Article 32 due to likely hiring of civilian 
defense counsel

307/-58 6849/6 6

19 Nov 15 JA notified that Accused entered into attorney 
client relationship with civilian defense counsel 
(Ms. Zimmerman)

323/-42 6865/22 22

4 Dec 15 TC states Govt is prepared for Article 32 on 338/-27 6880/37 37
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29 December 2015. Defense counsel
indicates their earliest availability for Article
32 is 19 April 2016

16 Dec 15 SpCMCA signs PHO appointment letter and
exclusion of time memorandum

350/-15 6892/49 49

29 Dec 15 SpCMCA excludes time from 29 Dec 15 to 
18 Apr 16 from RCM 707 computation.

363/-2 6905/62 62

19 Apr 16 Article 32 preliminary hearing. Victim
elects not to testify.

110 7017/174
[19yrs, 
2mos, 

18 days]

62

28 Apr 16 JA receives completed PHO report 119 7026/183 71
2 May 16 ADC and Accused receipt for PHO report 123 7030/187 75
4 May 16 AFSC/JA (GCMCA legal office) provided

PHO report
125 7032/189 77

11 May 16 TC interviews Victim for first time. Discuss
possible MH issues and risks of litigation.

132 7039/196 84

16 May 16 SVC confirms that Victim is willing to
proceed with litigation.

137 7044/201 89

17 May 16 GCMCA legal office requests and
receives audio of Article 32 hearing

138 7045/202 90

18 May 16 JA obtains list of potential court members
equal to or senior in rank to Accused

139 7046/203 91

20 May 16 GCMCA prepares referral package 141 7048/205 93
25 May 16 SpCMCA & JA discuss forwarding memo 146 7053/210 98
26 May 16 SpCMCA signs forwarding memo.

Pretrial advice drafted and sent to
GCMCA JA

147 7054/211 99

26 May 16 TC alerts DC and SVC that SpCMCA has
recommended referral and asks for availability
for arraignment.

147 7054/211 99

1 Jun16 Civilian defense counsel informs TC that she
is not available until 18 Jun 16

153 7060/217 105

2 Jun 16 Charge referred by GCMCA. Accused
signs for receipt of referred charge.

154 7061/218 106

3 Jun 16 TC sends notice of referral to CCMJ with
request for immediate docketing and
scheduling of arraignment on 8 Jun 16

155 7062/219 107
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6 Jun 16 Docketing conference with CCMJ.
Arraignment scheduled for 14 Jun 16. 
Defense counsel indicates unavailability until 
29 Aug 16 for motions. Defense requests
bifurcated trial for motions/merits. Trial
scheduled for 5-10 December 2016.

158 7065/222 110

8 Jun 16 CCMJ, Col Natalie Richardson,
excluded 8-13 Jun 16 from RCM 
707 computation

159 7067/224 111

14 Jun 16 Arraignment (and Judge Tukey excludes time 
period from arraignment to second scheduled 
motions date – 29 Aug 16 – from RCM 707 
computation.

166 7073/230
[19yrs, 
4 mos, 

13 days]

112

38.   19 years, 4 months and 13 days elapsed from the first date the charged offense of 
rape is alleged to have occurred in this case until the accused was arraigned for the 
charged offense.  230 days had elapsed from the date of preferral to arraignment. For 
purposes of RCM 707, however, only 112 days elapsed.  

39. 5,982 days (or 16 years, 4 months, and 15 days) elapsed from the time D.S. graduated 
the USCGA until the time CGIS to her again on 5 October 2014.   

40. Trial on the merits in this case is currently scheduled for 5 December 2016.  Another 
Article 39(a) session to handle additional motions has been docketed for 29 August 2016.    

BURDEN

41. “In the case of a motion to dismiss for … denial of the right to speedy trial under 
R.C.M. 707, the burden of persuasion shall be upon the prosecution.”  RCM 
905(c)(2)(B).  “The burden of proof on any factual issue the resolution of which is 
necessary to decide a motion shall be by a preponderance of the evidence.”  RCM 
905(c)(1).   

42. While denial of the right to speedy trial under R.C.M. 707 is typically decided by 
determining whether the accused was brought to trial within 120 days of preferral of 
charges or imposition of restraint, RCM 707(d) does discuss the deprivation of an 
accused’s constitutional right to speedy trial.  Accordingly, the burden discussed above 
remains on the government when discussing Constitutional violations of the right to 
speedy trial outside the 120-day rule spelled out in RCM 707(a).  None-the-less, for 
purposes of violations of the accused’s Fifth Amendment Due Process right to a speedy 
trial, the defense “has the burden of proof to show an egregious or intentional tactical 
delay and actual prejudice.”  See United States v. Reed, 41 M.J. 449, 452 (CAAF 1995). 



Appellate Exhibit XV
Marked page ___

Page 9 of 19

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

43. There are a number of sources of the right to a speedy trial in the military, to include 
the following sources of law and applicable case law: (a) statute of limitations; (b)
Articles 10 and 33 of UCMJ (10 USC §§ 810 and 833, respectively); (c) RCM 707; (d)
Sixth Amendment speedy-trial guarantee; and (e) the Due Process Clause of the Fifth 
Amendment. 

a. Statute of limitations. Absent restraint, the “primary guarantee” or 
“primary protection” against pre-accusation delay is the statute of limitations.  See United 
States v. Marion, 404 U.S. 307. 322 (1971).  As the Supreme Court noted in Toussie v. 
United States, 397 U.S. 112, 114-15 (1970): 

The purpose of a statute of limitations is to limit exposure to criminal prosecution 
to a certain fixed period of time following the occurrence of those acts the 
legislature had decided to punish by criminal sanctions. Such a limitation is 
designed to protect individuals from having to defend themselves against charges 
when the basic facts may have become obscured by the passage of time and to 
minimize the danger of official punishment because of acts in the far-distant past. 
Such a time limit may also have the salutary effect of encouraging law 
enforcement officials promptly to investigate suspected criminal activity….

The statute of limitations issue is the subject of another defense motion to dismiss and 
Court ruling (Appellate Exhibit XIV), and will therefore not be addressed again in this 
ruling.  For purposes of this motion, the statute of limitations for the 1997 crime of rape 
is unlimited per the version of Article 43, UCMJ, in existence during the period of the 
charged offense, which stated: “A person charged … with any offense punishable by 
death, may be tried and punished at any time without limitation.”  10 USC § 843 (1997).  
In 1997, the maximum punishment listed for rape was death.  Article 120, UCMJ; 10 
U.S.C. §920 (1996). 

b. Articles 10 and 33 of UCMJ. Because the accused was not subjected to 
pretrial confinement or restraint, the defense specifically does not allege a violation of 
Article 10 or Article 33, UCMJ.   

c. RCM 707.  RCM 707(a) requires that the accused be brought to trial within 
120 days of preferral of charges or imposition of restraint under R.C.M. 304(a)(2)-(4).  
Again, there has been no RCM 304 restraint alleged, so the only issue here is the date of 
preferral of charges to the date the accused was brought to trial.  In accordance with
RCM 707(b)(1), the accused “is brought to trial” for purposes of RCM 707 “at the time
of arraignment under R.C.M. 904.” Preferral of charges occurred 28 October 2015.  
Arraignment occurred on 14 June 2016—231 days later.  Some of that 231 delay, 
however, had been excluded.  Which party caused the delay is largely irrelevant.  The 
issue is not whether the delay was attributable to the government or defense, but whether 
the delay is approved by the convening authority or a military judge under R.C.M. 
707(c), and whether the delay was reasonable.  118 days were excluded in this case.
Specifically, the SpCMCA excluded 112 days (between 29 December 2015 and 18 April
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2016) to allow civilian defense counsel to prepare for the Article 32.  The Chief Circuit 
Military Judge (CCMJ), Col Natalie D. Richardson, later excluded another 6 days (8-13 
June 2016) due to time from docketing to the 14 June 2016 arraignment.  The exclusion 
of those 118 days was reasonable.  That leaves only 112 elapsed days (less than 120) 
from preferral to arraignment for purposes of RCM 707.  Accordingly, there is not an 
RCM speedy trial violation in this case.

i. Defense’s objection to the 14 June 2016 arraignment as a sham 
arraignment because D.S. was unable to testify that day due to pregnancy complications 
is without merit.  For purposes of RCM 707, the accused “is brought to trial” for purposes 
of RCM 707 “at the time of arraignment under R.C.M. 904.”  RCM 904 states:  

Arraignment shall be conducted in a court-martial session and shall consist of 
reading the charges and specifications to the accused and calling on the accused 
to plead.  The accused may waive the reading.

The discussion to RCM 904 states:  “Arraignment is complete when the accused is called 
upon to plead; the entry of pleas is not part of the arraignment.”  On 14 June 2016, the 
arraignment was complete and complied with RCM 904.  The accused waived the 
reading of the charge, was called upon to plead, and deferred pleading.  That session was 
conducted in an Article 39(a) court-martial session in front of the then detailed military 
judge, Judge Tukey.  That the government may not have been ready to proceed to trial 
immediately thereafter does not make the arraignment a sham.  As CAAF held in United 
States v. Doty, 51 M.J. 464 (C.A.A.F 1999), “there is no reason to question appellant’s 
arraignment based on the fact that the Government was unprepared to present its case on 
the merits immediately following the arraignment” so long as the government proceeded 
diligently to trial.  Doty at 465.  Based on the evidence currently before me, the 
government proceeded diligently to trial.  

ii. Judge Tukey also denied the defense’s motion challenging the 
validity of the 14 June 2016 arraignment at arraignment.  RCM 801(e)(1)(A) discusses 
the finality of a military judge’s ruling, and states:  “Any ruling by the military judge
upon a question of law, including a motion for a finding of not guilty, or upon any 
interlocutory question is final.”  I see no need to upset the finality of Judge Tukey’s 
ruling given the evidence currently before me (and, as an aside, also concur with that 
decision).   

iii. Furthermore, the defense’s statement that “the only purpose for the 
[14 June 2016] arraignment was to protect the Government’s interest in stopping the 
speedy trial clock” is also without merit.  As the discussion to RCM 904 points out:  
“Once the accused has been arraigned, no additional charges against that accused may be 
referred to that court-martial for trial with the previously referred charges.”  Moreover, 
MRE 304(d) precludes the trial counsel’s use at trial of any statement, oral or written, 
made by the accused that are relevant to the case, known to the trial counsel, and within 
the control of the Armed Forces, and all evidence derived from such statements, that the 
prosecution intends to offer against the accused if the contents of such statements are not 
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disclosed to the defense before arraignment.  Additionally, the Court in Doty found that 
“arraignment serves to protect an accused’s rights.  After arraignment, the power of the 
military judge to process the case increases, and the power of the convening authority to 
affect the case decreases.”  Doty at 466.  Accordingly, there are a number of benefits 
afforded to the accused at an arraignment, and other “purposes of such a proceeding” 
than just stopping the speedy trial clock.   

d. Sixth Amendment. In the military, Sixth Amendment speedy trial 
protections are triggered upon preferral of charges or the imposition of pretrial restraint.  
United States v. Danylo, 73 M.J. 183 (C.A.A.F. 2014).  The Sixth Amendment speedy-
trial protection does not apply to pre-accusation delays when there has been no restraint.   
United States v. Marion, 404 U.S. 307 (1971); United States v. Reed, 41 M.J. 449 (CAAF 
1995); United States v. Vogan, 35 M.J. 32 (CMA 1992).  Accordingly, the only time to 
consider here is the time from preferral of the charge on 28 October 2015 to present.  To 
determine whether this right was violated, the military judge must analyze the factors the
Supreme Court established in Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 530 (1972).  Danylo, 73 
M.J. at 186 (citations omitted). Those factors are: (1) the length of the delay; (2) the 
reasons for the delay; (3) whether the accused made a demand for a speedy trial; and (4) 
prejudice to the accused.  Id. (citations omitted).  Here, the Barker factors overall weigh 
in favor of the government.  Although: (1) the length of 230 days from preferral to 
arraignment seems long; (2) the reasons for the delay are largely attributable to the 
defense.  There was a 112-day delay from preferral to arraignment due to the fact that the 
accused hired civilian defense counsel prior to the Article 32.  That delay is entirely 
reasonable, but can hardly be held against the government.  Additionally, there was a 6-
day delay from the date of docketing to the arraignment.  That was also reasonable.  
Although the accused has made several demands for a speedy trial, there appears to be 
little prejudice to the accused in the amount of time it has taken this case to get from 
preferral to arraignment and beyond, to include a 5 December 2016 trial date.  This is 
especially true given the representations defense made in a 2 June 2016 email sent to trial 
counsel before this case was docketed for trial in December in which defense told the 
government on that date that “a prudent motions hearing date would be 19 September 
[2016], and a trial date for early December [2016].”  Given defense was requesting a 
December trial date, there seems to be little prejudice to the accused in accomplishing 
arraignment 14 June 2016, and this initial, unscheduled motions hearing 29 July 2016—
with another motions hearing scheduled for 29 August 2016 and an actual trial in 
December per defense’s request.  The accused can hardly complain about a delay in trial 
to December when his counsel originally proposed that month for this court-martial.   

e. Fifth Amendment Due Process. “While the military statute of limitations, 
Article 43, UCMJ, provides protection against pre-accusation delay, it may not be 
sufficient by itself—thus [an accused can rely] upon the Due Process Clause of the Fifth 
Amendment.”  United States v. Reed, 41 M.J. 449, 451 (CAAF 1995).  As the moving 
party on a motion to dismiss for a violation of the accused’s Fifth Amendment due 
process rights to a speedy and fair trial, the defense “has the burden of proof to show an 
egregious or intentional tactical delay and actual prejudice.”  Id. at 452.  Speculation of 
both egregious and intentional tactical delay by the government and actual prejudice by 
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the accused is not sufficient. Id.  “Conclusory allegations of prejudice, otherwise 
unsupported in the record, do not constitute valid grounds for dismissal,” see, e.g., United 
States v. Comosona, 614 F.2d 695, 697 (10th Cir. 1980).  Here, however, the defense has 
provided more than speculation and mere conclusory allegations. 

i. Again, the Reed test for a Fifth Amendment speedy trial violation 
is “an egregious or intentional tactical delay and actual prejudice.”  Reed, 41 M.J. at 451.  
This is in accord with the Court of Military Appeals case of United States v. Vogan,
which stated:  “the Fifth Amendment Due Process Clause may be applicable to protect an 
accused against egregious trial delays.”  United States v. Vogan, 35 M.J. 32, 34 (CMA 
1992)(citing United States v. Lovasco, 431 U.S. 783 (1977)).  The issue over whether 
length of delay, by itself, can be sufficiently egregious without intentional tactical delay 
seems to be an area of confusion.  That question in this case is an important one, because 
the defense has conceded that there was no pre-preferral intentional tactical delay on the 
part of the government.  The answer appears to be that a particularly egregious pretrial 
delay, even without intentional delay on behalf of the government, can amount to a Fifth 
Amendment Due Process violation of an accused’s right to a speedy trial, and that the 
disjunctive word “or” in the Reed test (an egregious delay “or” an intentional tactical 
delay, plus actual prejudice) was chosen for a reason.  This is because egregiously 
lengthy delays have the potential to insidiously erode the very foundations of 
fundamental fairness, due process, and true justice.  In a Sixth Amendment context, 
Courts have stated that the speedy trial right is designed to limit the possibility that the 
defense will be impaired.  The inability of a defendant adequately to prepare his case 
skews the fairness of the entire system.  See Barker, supra at 532; United States v. Grom,
21 M.J. 53, 57 (CMA 1985).  The same can be true about a particularly egregious pretrial 
delay, as the Government has an obligation to proceed to trial with all deliberate speed to 
ensure fading memories and valuable evidence are not lost.  This is decidedly true in a 
credibility case such as this one, where there is no physical evidence, and where 
memories and credibility evidence are determinative.  Appellate courts that have looked 
at the issue seem to apply the “or” as drafted in Reed. See United States v. W., 56 M.J. 
626 (USCGCCA 2001)(despite 3-year delay, appellant failed to show “an intentional 
tactical delay by the Government and, while it was lengthy, the circumstances satisfy us 
that it was not an egregious delay;” no prejudice either); United States v. Salcido, 2014 
CCA LEXIS 89 (NMCCA 2014)(twenty-four-month delay in preferral not egregious 
delay, but assuming it was egregious, not prejudicial).   

ii. Moreover, reading the “or” as an “and” in the Reed test (as the 
government would have me do in this case) would seem to go against the U.S. Supreme 
Court’s holding in United States v. Marion, 404 U.S. 307 (1971) and United States v. 
Lovasco, 431 U.S. 783 1977.  In Marion, the Supreme Court noted that the Due Process 
Clause of the Fifth Amendment would require dismissal if it were shown at trial that the
“pre-indictment delay” in that case caused substantial prejudice to an accused’s rights to 
a fair trial and that the delay was an intentional device to gain tactical advantage over the 
accused. Marion, 431 U.S. at 324.  However, the Court did not state that such 
circumstances were the only way to violate the Due Process Clause of the Fifth 
Amendment with respect to pre-indictment / pre-preferral delays, and suggested that 
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actual prejudice to the defense of a criminal case may result in circumstances other than 
those caused by intentional tactical delay. Id.  The Court went on to state:  “we need not, 
and could not now, determine when and in what circumstances actual prejudice resulting 
from pre-accusation delays requires the dismissal of the prosecution.” Id.  The Marion 
Court added:

To accommodate the sound administration of justice to the rights of the 
defendant to a fair trial will necessarily involve a delicate judgment based on the 
circumstances of each case.  It would be unwise at this juncture to attempt to 
forecast our decision in such cases.    

Id. at 325.  In Marion, the Court also added that the statute of limitations plays a 
factor when determining the constitutionality of pre-trial delays.  Id. at 325 
(holding that 38-month pre-trial delay that occurred while case was still within the 
five-year statute of limitations not a violation of due process).   

iii. Five years later, the Supreme Court in Lovasco, provided further 
guidance that there can be many ways to violate an accused’s Fifth Amendment Due 
Process rights to a speedy trial.  In Lovasco, the Supreme Court of the United States 
stated:

In Marion, we conceded that we could not determine in the abstract the 
circumstances in which preaccusation delay would require dismissing 
prosecutions.  404 U.S., at 324. More than five years later, that statement 
remains true. Indeed, in the intervening years so few defendants have established 
that they were prejudiced by delay that neither this Court nor any lower court has 
had a sustained opportunity to consider the constitutional significance of various 
reasons for delay. We therefore leave to the lower courts, in the first 
instance, the task of applying the settled principles of due process that we 
have discussed to the particular circumstances of individual cases.   

Lovasco, 431 U.S. at 786-87 (holding 18-month pre-indictment delay while government 
was still investigating case with hopes to find new witnesses did not violate due process).   

iv. In discussing the importance of the statute of limitations to this 
analysis, the Supreme Court in Lovasco also held:  

[The] statutes of limitations, which provide predictable, legislatively enacted 
limits on prosecutorial delay, provide ‘the primary guarantee against bringing 
overly stale criminal charges.’ [Marion] at 322, quoting United States v. Ewell, 
383 U.S. 116, 122 (1966). But we did acknowledge that the ‘statute of limitations 
does not fully define [an accused’s] rights with respect to the events occurring 
prior to indictment,’ [Marion] at 324, and that the Due Process Clause has a 
limited role to play in protecting against oppressive delay.

Lovasco, 431 U.S. at 789.  Thus, the very language in Lovasco and Marion
support the notion that an egregious delay, by itself, and in the right 
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circumstances, can be a violation of an accused’s Fifth Amendment Due Process 
right to a speedy trial, so long as there is proof of prejudice and the due process 
inquiry considered the reasons for the delay as well as the prejudice to the 
accused.  See Id. at 790.   

v. As stated in Ewell, Lovasco and Marion, supra, the applicable 
statute of limitations “is the primary guarantee against bringing overly stale criminal 
charges.”  But as suggested in Lovasco, “primary guarantee” does not mean “only 
guarantee.”  Again, Lovasco stated that the “statute of limitations does not fully define 
[an accused’s] rights with respect to the events occurring prior to indictment,’ [Marion] at 
324, and that the Due Process Clause has a limited role to play in protecting against 
oppressive delay.”  Lovasco, 431 U.S. at 789.  Accordingly, trial counsel’s argument 
during the 29 July 2016 Article 39(a) hearing on this motion that the government can 
bring a rape case at any time without violating the accused’s Fifth Amendment Due 
Process right to a speedy trial—because there is no statute of limitations for rape—is 
without merit.  Fundamental fairness and due process still protect the accused against 
staleness in a case that has no statute of limitations.  In such cases, egregious delays are 
of that much more import, and the military judge still has the affirmative duty to ensure 
the accused receives a fair trial.  See United States v. Ramos, 42 M.J. 392, 396 (1995); 
United States v. Justice, 3 M.J. 451, 453 (C.M.A. 1977).  United States v. Greaves, 46 
M.J. 133, 139 (1997)(quoting United States v. Rake, 11 C.M.A. 159, 160, 28 C.M.R. 383, 
384 (1960)); United States v. Grady, 15 M.J. 275, 277 (C.M.A. 1983); United States v. 
Milburn, 8 M.J. 110, 114 (C.M.A. 1979); United States v. Rosser, 6 M.J. 267, 271 
(C.M.A. 1979); United States v. Jackson, 6 M.J. 116, 117 (C.M.A. 1979).  Given the 
egregious delay that has occurred in this case, that cannot occur.   

vi. What exactly constitutes an egregious delay is unsettled, but again, 
the answer to that question seemingly “falls to the lower court” to determine.  See 
Lovasco, supra, at 786-87.  In the context of a post-trial delay, lengthy delays can impact 
an accused’s due process rights to a speedy and fair trial. See United States v. Haney, 64 
M.J. 101, 107-08 (CAAF 2006); United States v. Moreno, 63 M.J. 129, 135-41 (C.A.A.F. 
2006).  In Haney, CAAF found that a 2,639 day-delay in the post-trial processing of the 
appellant’s case was egregious.  Haney, 64 M.J.at 107-08 (holding that “the 
egregiousness of the unexplained delay in this case was such that the perception of 
fairness of the military justice system is potentially jeopardized” and therefore finding “a
due process violation”).  Again, the egregious delay in Haney was 2,639 days.  Here, the 
delay from offense to arraignment was 7,073 days – over 2 ½ times the length of the 
delay CAAF found egregious in Haney (albeit, in a post-trial context), and equally as 
egregious from a pretrial due process violation standpoint.  The delay from D.S.’s 
USCGA to the time she spoke to CGIS again about her accusation was 5,982 days—over 
twice as long as the post-trial delay the Haney Court found to be egregious.  Such delays 
in this case are egregious—especially in comparison to Haney.   

vii. In an analogous, but also only persuasive case, the State of Ohio 
found an 18-year pre-trial delay did not violate Fifth Amendment Due Process because 
there was no actual prejudice to the accused.  State v. Jackson, 2015-Ohio-4274 (8th App. 
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Oh., October 15, 2015 decided)(18 year delay from 1996 rape to trial not violation of 
preindicitment delay because accused made statement that it was consensual, so loss of 
victim’s medical records, loss of clothing taken from the victim at the time or rape, loss 
of evidence in the car in which the rape was alleged to have occurred, and inability to 
locate sex crimes detective who investigated case not prejudicial because accused made 
no showing of why these were relevant and would have assisted in his defense, which 
was that it was consensual).

viii. Egregious delay.  Based on the foregoing, I conclude that a 19 
year, 4 month and 13 day delay from the first date the charged offense of rape is alleged 
to have occurred in this case until the accused was arraigned for the charged offense is 
egregious.  Whether this delay was intentional or not, the government has produced no 
evidence of a justifiable reason for the delay in the prosecuting of this case by nearly 20 
years.  If 2,639 days is egregious in Haney post-trial, then a 7,073 day-delay in this case 
is egregious pre-trial.  

(1) While rape can be prosecuted without limitation, 
fundamental due process mandates that it be prosecuted diligently.  The government had 
D.S.’s rape allegation prior to D.S.’s graduation from the USCGA in May 1998 and 
failed to move forward with her case with all deliberate speed because, to paraphrase 
Capt Mackell, it was too hard to do—it was too hard to figure out the jurisdictional 
question, both of where the offense occurred, and how to call the accused back to active 
duty after he left the USCGA.  “Too hard to do” on the part of the government does not a 
nearly two-decade delay justify.   

(2) For Capt Mackell, the O6 SJA at the USCGA, to say he 
would have done more with this case had D.S. given him the impression she wanted him 
to do so, and that talking to CGIS back in 1998 after he spoke with D.S. would have been 
pointless, makes the delay that much more egregious.  The relevant provisions of DoDI 
6495.02 cited above that now exist and state that commanders should honor the victim’s 
decision to decline to participate in an investigation or prosecution of sexual assault did 
not exist in 1997 or 1998.  In 1998, D.S. could have simply been ordered to testify, and 
having CGIS investigate the matter in 1998 can hardly be said to be pointless.   

(3) That D.S. reported her rape allegation to USCGA 
authorities on four occasions— (1) to the USCGA SJA (Capt Mackell); (2) to a USCGA 
counselor (Ms. Moulton); (3) to the CGIS after being witness to another rape in January 
1998; and (4) to a USCGA Executive Board—and that all four of these authorities, Capt 
Mackell in particular, decided not to press forward with this case, and that close to two 
decades passed before the government started to move this case forward, is egregious.   

(4) While it is unfortunate that the government may not have 
taken D.S.’s allegations as seriously as they should have back in the 90s, the simple fact 
is that the government had D.S.’s allegations in 1998 and did nothing with them until 
2014.  As frustrating and as miserable as such a delay is for D.S., it is even more so for 
the accused with respect to his Fifth Amendment Due Process right to a speedy trial.  The 
egregious pretrial delay insidiously eroded the very foundations of fundamental fairness, 
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due process, and true justice in this case, and the accused will be significantly impaired 
from receiving an adequate defense and a fundamentally fair trial.  

(5) The inability of the accused to adequately prepare his case 
skews the fairness of his entire court-martial.  The reasons for the delay are even more 
egregious—“too hard to do back in 1998.”  To paraphrase CAAF in Haney, the 
egregiousness of the delay in this case is such that the perception of fairness of the 
military justice system is significantly jeopardized.  Even assuming the case did not move 
forward because D.S. did not want to proceed in 1998, there is a limit, protected by due 
process, to how long a case can lay dormant until due process precludes its re-initiation 
without new evidence—even in a case that has no statute of limitations.  Whatever that 
due process limit is, a 19 year, 4 month and 13 day delay until an arraignment in a case 
that began in 1997 has to exceed it.  To hold otherwise would allow victims the 
opportunity to pick and choose when to initiate and re-initiate a case.  For example, and 
by no means does the Court mean to insinuate that D.S. has or would do this, there is 
nothing, absent due process, to present D.S. from deciding to again withdraw from this 
case and change her mind 20 years down the road.  This, the Due Process Clause should 
not allow.  The government caused this delay through inaction, it is egregious, and it 
violated the accused’s Fifth Amendment Due Process right to a speedy trial because, as 
discussed below, actual prejudice occurred.     

ix. Actual Prejudice. The possibility of prejudice inherent in any 
extended delay—that memories will dim, witnesses become inaccessible, and evidence 
lost—is not in and of itself enough to demonstrate that an accused cannot receive a fair 
trial and therefore to justify the dismissal of the offense.  United States v. Marion, 404 
U.S. 307, 326 (1971).  Absent actual prejudice demonstrated at the trial, such due process 
claims are speculative and premature.  Id.  For the reasons that follow, actual prejudice
has occurred.   

(1) In this credibility only case, the death of Ms. Pam Moulton 
causes actual prejudice.  D.S. claims that Ms. Moulton told her not to pursue the rape 
case.  D.S. also said that Capt Mackell told her not to pursue the rape case.  Capt Mackell 
said he never told D.S. not to pursue the allegation, and that Ms. Moulton would have 
never done so either, adding that Ms. Moulton had established a support group for cadets 
who were victims of sexual assault and that Ms. Moulton had little tolerance for sexual 
misconduct.  He added that Ms. Moulton was at the forefront of eliminating sexual 
assault on college campuses in the 90s, and that had D.S. told him and Ms. Moulton that 
she was raped, the two of them would never have let the accused leave the USCGA.
Whether D.S. has an MRE 608(c) motive to fabricate to obtain a better disability rating 
with the VA when she went there in 2014 to report this incident to them, and whether 
D.S. may have asserted to the VA that she was told by Capt Mackell and Ms. Moulton 
not to go forward in an effort to explain, for the purposes of increased VA benefits, why 
her rape accusation was never adjudicated, is a valid defense theory the accused can no
longer adequately explore because there is no way to adequately rebut D.S.’s accusations 
regarding Ms. Moulton.  This is an important point in this case, because no new evidence 
came to life that warranted dusting off this cold case other than D.S.’s decision to meet 
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with the VA in 2014.   

(2) That D.S. may have minimized the offense with Ms. 
Moulton, or exaggerated the offense to the VA, is speculative; but what is not speculative 
is that the defense made several attempts to obtain Ms. Moulton’s contact information 
through discovery requests to the government before Ms. Moulton passed away, and the 
government failed to provide it.  Furthermore, despite D.S. telling CGIS about her 
conversations with Ms. Moulton in her 2014 interview with CGIS, CGIS failed to ask 
Ms. Moulton about her interactions with D.S. when they interviewed her a few months 
later.  Lost was the opportunity for CGIS and the defense to ask Ms. Moulton whether 
D.S. sought counseling from her at the USCGA due to the alleged rape; whether D.S. 
claimed she was raped or simply assaulted (as Capt Mackell believed); whether Ms. 
Moulton discouraged D.S. from proceeding forward with her case (as D.S. now alleges, 
but which this Court finds unlikely); and how impacted D.S. was by the alleged incident 
(information potentially useful to the defense in sentencing).  That the defense was 
denied this information, especially after asking for the contact information for Ms. 
Moulton multiple times before her death caused actual prejudice in this case.  

(3) In a credibility case, opportunities for the defense to 
impeach D.S. have been diminished by the nearly 20-year delay in this case and the death 
of a key witness.  Ms. Moulton had information about a fact of consequence in this case 
and was a material witness.  The parties agreed during the Article 39(a) hearing that this 
case comes down to the credibility of D.S. and, as such, evidence that would tend to 
strengthen or diminish D.S.’s credibility is extremely relevant.  That Ms. Moulton passed 
due to an egregious delay on behalf of the government now deprives the accused of a 
fundamentally fair trial.  

(4) Moreover, there is more than a mere possibility that 
memories have dimmed in this case due to the lapse of time. Nearly 20 years will have 
passed if this case goes to trial in December 2016, and Capt Mackell’s memory about the 
specific facts of this case has, by his own admission, diminished.  Given that he and Ms. 
Moulton were the two primary individuals with whom D.S. spoke about the allegation 
back in the 90s, the fact that Capt Mackell’s memories have faded only exacerbates the 
actual prejudice to the accused given the death of Ms. Moulton.   

(5) As discussed in United States v. Tousant, the defense may 
establish prejudice by showing: (1) the actual loss of a witness, as well as “the substance 
of their testimony and the efforts made to locate them.” See United States v. Tousant,
619 F.2d 810, 814 P19 (9th Cir. 1980).  As discussed, Ms. Moulton passed away, and the 
defense made several attempts to obtain her information before she died.  The substance 
of her testimony, as one of the two main witnesses with whom D.S. talked back in 1998, 
is critical to determine the action.  Actual prejudice has occurred in this case.   

x. While the Lovasco Court stated that the Due Process Clause does 
not require prosecutors to be penalized for deferring and delaying action on a case until 
the prosecutor will be able to promptly establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, and 
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that the orderly processing of a case should not be subordinated to “mere speed,” 
Lovasco, 431 U.S. at 796, the government in this case waited until 2015 to charge the 
accused for an offense that allegedly occurred in February 1997, and the case is the same 
as it was back then—the statement against D.S. remains the only evidence against the 
accused. The Due Process Clause requires more than just sitting on a case from 
1997/1998 to 2014 doing nothing.  The parties agreed that no physical, scientific, or 
medical evidence existed in 1998 to support D.S.’s allegations, and that remains true 
today.  So waiting nearly 20 years to prosecute this case has gained the government 
nothing, and cost the accused much in terms of a lost witness (Ms. Moulton) and loss of 
memories (Capt Mackell and everyone else in this case).  As the Supreme Court stated in 
Lassiter v. Dep't of Social Services:

For all its consequence, ‘due process’ has never been, and perhaps can 
never be, precisely defined. ‘[Unlike] some legal rules,’ this Court has said, 
due process ‘is not a technical conception with a fixed content unrelated to 
time, place and circumstances.’ Cafeteria Workers v. McElroy, 367 U.S. 
886, 895. Rather, the phrase expresses the requirement of ‘fundamental 
fairness,’ a requirement whose meaning can be as opaque as its importance 
is lofty.  Applying the Due Process Clause is therefore an uncertain 
enterprise which must discover what ‘fundamental fairness’ consists of in a 
particular situation by first considering any relevant precedents and then by 
assessing the several interests that are at stake.’   

Lassiter v. Dep't of Social Services, 452 U.S. 18, 24-25 (1981).   

xi. Here, due process and fundamental fairness are not served by
allowing this case to proceed following an egregious pretrial delay that has caused actual 
prejudice to the accused.  Simply put, a 19-year, 4-month and 13-day delay from the date 
of the alleged offense to arraignment, and a 16-year, 4-month, and 15-day delay from the 
time D.S. graduated the USCGA until the time CGIS interviewed her again on 5 October 
2014, during which time the government (unlike the government in Lovasco) did nothing 
in this case, violates the accused’s Fifth Amendment Due Process right to a speedy trial 
because actual prejudice occurred in this credibility only case.  According to R.C.M. 
707(d)(1), the charge “must be dismissed with prejudice where the accused has been 
deprived of his or her constitutional right to a speedy trial.” To accommodate the sound 
administration of justice and protect the rights of the accused to a fundamentally fair trial,
the charge must be dismissed with prejudice. 
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RULING

For the foregoing reasons, the defense’s motion to dismiss the Charge and Specification 
against the accused for a violation of his right to a speedy trial is DENIED in part and 
GRANTED in part.  The Court rules that the accused’s Fifth Amendment Due Process 
right to a speedy trial has been violated.  The accused’s constitutional right to a speedy 
trial having been violated, R.C.M. 707(d)(1) mandates dismissal with prejudice.   

The Court therefore orders that the Charge and its Specification be dismissed with 
prejudice.

A ruling on defense’s motion to dismiss for an improper referral (Appellate Exhibit VIII) 
is now unnecessary.   

SO ORDERED on this 2nd day of August 2016. 

JOSEPH S. IMBURGIA, Colonel, USAF
Military Judge
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DDEPARTMENT OF THE AIR FORCE  
HHEADQUARTERS AIR FORCE LEGAL OPERATIONS AGENCY 

 

26 April 2017 
MEMORANDUM FOR AFSC/JA 

FROM:  AFLOA/JAJM 

SUBJECT:  U.S. v. Lieutenant Colonel Edzel A. Mangahas (Misc Dkt 2016-10) 

On 5 April 2017, the Air Force Court of Criminal Appeals (AFCCA) granted the petition for 
Article 62 Appeal filed on behalf of the Governement, as set forth in the attached order.  The case is 
returned to the convening authority for further processing. 

FOR THE JUDGE ADVOCATE GENERAL 

JULIE A. STEELE 
Assistant Chief, Appellate Records Paralegal  
Air Force Legal Operations Agency 

Attachment: 
AFCCA Decision 

cc:  75 ABW/JA 
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